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Consolidated Financial Highlights
(000s omitted except share data)                          2018            2017          Percent
                                         Change

Interest Income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Earnings Per Share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Dividends Declared . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Book Value  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Deposits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . .
Loans, Net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Allowance for Loan Losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Shareholders’ Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Common Shares Outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Full Time Equivalent Employees . . . . . . . . . . .

Return on Average Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Return on Average Assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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Total
Equity

2014            $    91,926,377              $   70.29             $   1.96              $  1.47   $  3.43   5.02%
2015            $    97,217,392              $   74.33             $   4.04                  $  1.54   $  5.58   7.94%
2016            $  100,253,501              $   76.65             $   2.32                  $  1.63   $  3.95   5.31%
2017            $  106,303,802              $   81.28             $   4.63              $  1.70   $  6.33   8.26%
2018            $  109,918,963              $   84.04             $   2.76              $  1.80   $  4.56   5.61% 

* Total return for period divided by beginning book value per share

Book 
Value

Per Share

Increase
in Book

Value for 
Period

Dividends 
Declared Per 

Share

Total 
Return 

For Period

Total %
Return to Year
Shareholder*

Golf legend Ben Hogan said that he never played a round where he didn’t learn something new about the game. In that way, 
golfing is very similar to banking. Every day that we serve a customer is a chance to learn and to improve. The last few years 
have been introspective here at VCNB - we have celebrated our past, dreamt of what we want the bank to be and strategized 
how to achieve those goals. Today, our game is in full swing as we have begun to refresh and transform the way customers do 
business in our branches and continue implementing new methods for improving the way we operate. 

 It is by working together and learning from each other that we will succeed. It is through wisdom gained from our customers 
that we will perfect our game. It is through the practice of effective strategies that VCNB will become a better, stronger 
community bank that will be here to help customers for another 152 years. It has been a good year for VCNB and we thank you 
for being part of it.

In Full 
Swing At 

VCNB



It’s been said if you do not know 
where you are going, you are 
probably not going to get there.  
In 2017, we adopted a corporate 
strategic plan that provided a road 
map for the future.  In 2018, we 
started to implement the strategies 
of the plan.  With these changes 
and a lot of hard work, we realized a 
significant improvement in earnings.

One of the goals of the strategic 
plan was to transform our banking 
offices for the future. Starting in 
December 2018 our Grove City office 
converted to the Personal Banker 
model.  The Grove City office is 
staffed with personal bankers that 
can provide customers with loan 
and deposit products.  

The personal banker has a more 
expanded role than traditional staff 
positions. Personal bankers can 
perform cash transactions as well as 
open accounts.  

The Grove City office has a cash 
recycler to allow cash transactions 
to be handled faster, accurately, 
and more efficiently.  Personal 
bankers have access to individual 
offices to improve privacy concerns 
for customers.  If you are in Grove 
City, I encourage you to stop by our 
Stringtown Road office and have our 
staff show you the changes.

We plan to have our Laurelville, West 
Fair Lancaster, Circleville, Ashville, 
and Pataskala offices remodeled and 
operating under this new concept by 
the year 2020.  We purchased land in 
the City of Jackson, and have started 
the planning process to build a new 
office by 2021. 

CBI earnings for 2018 were a record 
high at $8,511,741, an increase of 
$1,873,535 from the previous year.  
The lower corporate tax rate helped 
significantly in improving earnings.  
An improvement in net interest 
margin and loan growth also 

contributed to higher earnings.

Cash dividends declared increased 
$.10 from $1.70 per share in 2017 to 
$1.80 in 2018.  CBI book value per 
share was $84.04 at year end, a 3.4%  
increase.  The overall annual return 
of CBI book value and dividends 
declared was 5.61% for 2018.

The main factor for the improved 
loan growth was car and truck loans 
from local dealerships.  This sector 
of loans grew $44 million in 2018.  
This loan growth accounted for $2.3 
million in new gross revenue.  The 
success in this area can be attributed 
to the hard work of our staff.  Our 
loan staff is willing to go the extra 
mile to make sure that our customer 
gets the vehicle of their dreams.  

Also, investment in technology 
has improved communication 
and approval turnaround time 
with automobile dealerships.  We 
truly value our relationships with 
dealerships.

With extra funds from the income 
tax decrease, we invested capital in 
technology, equipment, personnel 
and buildings to provide better 
service to our customers.  

The banking industry continues to 
consolidate with more area banks 
merging.  I believe it is essential to 
make this investment to provide for 
success in the future. 

Some may think this amount 
of investment in buildings and 
equipment is aggressive.  They 
may even question if offices are still 
necessary with electronic banking.  
We still believe that strategically 
placed banking offices are an 
important part of the business 
model.  We must reinvest in the 
company to achieve success going 
forward.  The 2018 tax cuts made 
it easier to make these capital 
expenditures.

Once again we will try a different 
venue for the annual shareholders’ 
meeting.  This year’s Shareholders’ 
Meeting will be held at the Cook’s 
Creek Golf Club at 16405 US Highway 
23, South Bloomfield. The phone 
number is 740.983.3636.   We look 
forward to seeing you and breaking 
bread on April 2nd.

Goals Provide Road Map To Success
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Chairman/CEO Thomas D. Will  

Chairman/CEO Thomas D. Will at the Laurelville construction site. 
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Ron Collins Steps Down As
Ask Ron Collins about his greatest 
accomplishments as VCNB President 
and you will find he avoids talking 
about himself, instead focusing on 
the work and accomplishments 
of others.  “It’s not about what I 
did. It’s about what we all have 
accomplished together,” he said 
as he talked about the nearly 250 
employees that now comprise the 
bank family.   

Ron has stepped down as Bank 
President but is remaining as CEO 
and in an advisory role for the 
newly minted President Mark Erslan. 
“Having someone like Mark who has 
been on board for a long time makes 
my decision to retire easier,” he said. 
“I talked it over with the Board and 
we agreed that this was the best 
way to handle it. So I’ll be here in a 
coaching role for the next year to 
help Mark in the transition.”

Ron has been part of the VCNB family 
since 1998 when he came to First 
Bremen Bank as Head of Lending. 
He was named President of the First 
Bremen Bank in 2001 and served in 
that capacity until being named 
President of Vinton County National 
Bank when the two banks merged in 
2009.  One of his accomplishments 
has been using his expertise as a 
skilled communicator to soften the 
differences between the two banks, 
finding common ground and seeking 
ways to improve the combined 
operation. 

During his career with the VCNB 
family, Ron has used his sweeping 
knowledge of the lending world to 
improve the bank’s loan portfolio, 
making it both healthy and 

profitable. He also oversaw the 
development of the Canal Banking 
Center in Canal Winchester, Friendly 
Bremen Banking Center in Pataskala 
and the Jackson County Banking 
Center in Jackson.

 “When I started, the Bremen Bank 
was about $160 million in assets. 
Vinton County was over $200 million. 
Working together, we were able to 
bridge the gap and now we’re a bank 
of about $935 million in assets. That 
wasn’t just me. That was because 
of a lot of people,” he said. “And I’m 
proud to say that we did all of that 
and stayed true to our core values.”

The biggest challenge in banking is 
the ever evolving way that people 
bank. “The key is to listen to your 
customer. They will tell you what 
you need to know and you will be 
successful if you listen. You see, it 
really doesn’t matter what we like. It’s 
about the customer and what makes 
them happy,” he emphasized. 

Ron was just the ninth president in the 
bank’s long and storied history. “We 
might not have all done it the same 
but all of our Presidents, those eight 
before me and our new President, 
we all had or have the bank’s best 
interests at heart. We all want to take 
the bank to the next level, we all put 
the customer first and we all want to 
do the right thing,” he said. 

Ron will continue in this coaching role 
until his retirement from the bank in 
April 2020. He is now beginning to 
think about what he will do with his 
free time. “I’m hesitant to commit 
to too much right now because the 
biggest thing is being able to just do 
what I want to do,” he said. 

He is looking forward to spending 
more time with family including Gail, 
his wife of 40 years, who supported 
him through a host of promotions 
and career advancements over the 
years.  The couple has two grown 
children, Jill and Ron Jr., as well as 
three grandchildren.  In addition to 
family time, he hopes to travel and 
do some volunteering. “It’s our time. 
Gail and I will be free to do what 
we please without the pressures of 
running a company,” he said. 

After retiring, Ron will continue 
to serve on the VCNB Board of 
Directors. “The bank will always be 
an important part of my life,” he said. 
“I am thankful to the Will family for 
bringing me into their family because 
the bank is their family. I’m thankful 
to them every day.”

Find Ron Collins’ full biography on the 
VCNB blog at www.VCNBfamily.me.

CEO Ron Collins

President, Continues as CEO
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From Trainee To President:

When Mark Erslan took an entry level job at VCNB just 
after college, he had no idea that he would someday 
run the company. Yet that’s exactly what’s happening 
and his is a story to inspire young people starting out in 
a new job.

Mark came to VCNB in 1992 after graduating from 
University of Rio Grande with a degree in Business 
Management. His first position with the bank was 
Management Trainee, spending most of his time in the 
Operations Department. He did this job for about a 
year but felt that something was missing: he wanted to 
do something with customer interaction. 

That’s when Mark was entrusted with the Branch 
Manager position at the new Ross County Banking 
Center in Chillicothe’s Central Center. This office 

was known primarily as a deposit office and so he 
eventually transferred to the bank’s Bridge Street 
location where he cut his teeth in the lending world. 

Then President Steve Hunter split his time between 
Chillicothe and McArthur, providing Mark access to 
the President who was known as a strong leader and 
mentor. Chairman Bob Will devoted time to working 
with Mark as well. 

“Bob invested a lot of time with the management 
trainees and newer employees. Bob would come to 
Chillicothe once a week and we’d go on calls.  Initially, 
I was a little nervous about the Chairman of the bank 
calling with me every week.  Over time, I came to 
appreciate the experience and came to the realization 
that he was just trying to develop me,” Mark said. 

 Mark Erslan Has Done It All

Mark Erslan
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“These calls were a lot about telling the story of the 
bank, greeting strangers and making new friends.” 

As the bank grew, so did Mark in his role, first as a 
Consumer Lender, then Vice President of Lending 
and, most recently, Executive Vice President Head 
of Lending. One thing that has remained consistent 
throughout Mark’s career has been his desire to work 
with customers. “As a lender over the years, one of 
things I’ve enjoyed the most was getting to know our 
customers.  We still firmly believe that developing 
relationships and knowing our customers are keys to 
growing the bank,” he said.  

The bank has grown substantially 
during his career. Now the bank has 
three heads of lending, credit analysts 
and more employees than ever 
before. He pointed out that this means 
there are more career opportunities 
for people in the bank’s markets. 

“I’m proud of the growth we have 
experienced and the way we have 
achieved it,” Mark said. “And I say we 
because it has always been a team 
approach here. No one person can 
take credit for the work we’ve done 
together”

One source of success since the 
bank’s beginning in 1867 has been an 
ambition to remain relevant. “It was ingrained in me 
early, this strong sense of being relevant and investing 
in the latest technologies. It is important to offer what 
the customer will want and use and our leadership 
has always had a desire to be an early adopter of new 
technology,” he said. 

Challenges and Opportunities
In his career, Mark has seen some turmoil in the 
economy and banking. He noted that challenges to the 
economy often bring changes in banking regulations 
that cause the bank to ask some tough questions and 
to find ways to adapt without impacting the business 
model.  “Some of these changes have made us 
stronger and created new opportunities,” he said. 

In the world of banking, Mark is quick to point out that 
all banks offer similar products but that community 
banks like VCNB have an advantage that gives them a 

leg up on the competition. “We’re big enough to offer 
competitive products and services using the latest 
technology but still strive to know our customers in the 
branches and are able to provide local solutions to 
their banking needs.   

He also recognized the importance of having a 
management presence and decision makers in 
local markets. “Our growth has created a need for 
some centralization in an effort to be more efficient. 
However, our management team is spread throughout 
multiple communities and has a strong presence in our 
branches. We want our leaders to have a presence in 
our respective markets,” he said. 

Mark smiled when he talked 
about the respect he has for the 
men who have held his position 
in the past. He is grateful for the 
role they played in his career. 
“Past presidents have played a 
significant role in my development 
and I hope to pass that along to 
the next generation of bankers. 
Giving some of my time to develop 
employees is important to me 
because it certainly happened for 
me. I am eager for the opportunity 
to lead the bank in this way.

Looking Ahead
In speaking about the bank’s 

future, Mark is optimistic and indicated he plans to 
continue following the bank’s current growth strategy. 
He discussed the desire for growth in markets that 
remain new to the bank like Grove City, Circleville, 
Ashville and Jackson. However, he is cognizant of the 
commitment to continue thriving in those markets 
where the bank is already established.

“The new markets present growth opportunities but we 
can’t lose sight or market share in our more established 
markets.  We have to take a balanced approach to 
investing our time and resources in all of our markets.  
Presently we’re in the middle of several branch 
transformation projects in newer and established 
markets,” he said. 

Mark is also mindful that one quality that distinguishes 
VCNB from other banks is the personal relationships 
that develop over years of getting to know customers. 

 
“These calls were 
a lot about telling 
the story of the 
bank, greeting 
strangers and 
making new 
friends.” 

Mark Erslan 
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Yet, banking is becoming an increasingly digital 
experience where customers prefer to open 
accounts, deposit checks and ask their questions 
with apps, websites and email. “Our challenge is to 
keep offering new products and services that keep 
us relevant with new technology but still available 
to offer a positive in-person customer experience. 
We have to continue working on improving both 
experiences,” he continued.

Revitalizing the Customer Experience
One step in this direction is the revitalization of 
the customer experience in the branches. Some 
of the branches require some simple updates and 
others major overhauls to modernize and improve 
the customer experience. The new VCNB customer 
experience will be something of a throwback to the 
early days of banking when every retail employee 
was able to help the customer with all their needs. 
But the modern twist, of course, will incorporate 
technology and other resources the customer 
expects along with personal service.  

Read more about the Branch Experience on page 10.

“It’s an exciting time for the bank. We’re investing 
in our communities with several branch 
transformation projects which will include updates 
to facilities and equipment to better serve the 
customer. We’ll also be replacing many of our ATMs 
which will improve speed and offer additional 
services outside of our lobby hours,” he said. “We 
look forward to steady growth in the communities 
we serve by continuing to provide our customers 
with excellent in-person service while embracing 
new technology to provide additional conveniences 
online.”

A Preble County native, Mark and his wife Shelby 
reside in Chillicothe and have four school aged 
children. 

He is eager to use his experience to lead the bank 
and looks forward to what the future holds. “You 
develop a sense of pride from being here over 26 
years and getting to know many of the past and 
current leaders and employees that have played 
a role in the bank’s success. It’s an honor to be 
named the tenth president and I look forward to 
the opportunity to lead the bank now and into the 
future.”

ABOVE - The bank paid a visit to Sudslingers 
Laundromat, a new business in Bremen in September. 
Mark Erslan is pictured with Sudslingers owner Todd 

Wesaw and Bremen Branch Manager Nicole Scott. 

BELOW - Mark Erslan is pictured in his office on Main Street 
in Chillicothe soon after taking over his new role. 



Strategic Planning 
Putting The Game Plan To Work 

For almost two years, VCNB 
has been working through 
a Strategic Plan that was 
designed to make the bank 
a better place for employees 
to work, for customers 
to do business and for 
shareholders to invest. The 
Strategic Plan contains ten 
big picture goals set by the 
bank’s Executive Committee. 

The goals were identified 
by the Executive Committee 
and include Culture Strategy, 
Human Resources Strategy, 
Process Improvement, High 
Standards, Sales Culture 
and Business Development, 
Commercial Lending, Branch Transformation and 
Project Management. These goals are part of two 
overarching goals which are to become a billion dollar 
bank and to achieve a one percent Return on Assets.

These goals were entrusted to a committee of 
employees who represent a broad spectrum of 
departments, geography and experience. This group 
was charged with prioritizing goals, creating strategies 
and actions for achieving those goals and then putting 
these strategies to work. 

When it comes to plan implementation, some of the 
work has fallen to individuals and groups outside the 
committee while committee members have rolled up 
their sleeves to tackle the dirty work of other projects. 
Essentially, this group exists to plan, prioritize and do 
what needs to be done. 

Through hard work and determination, much of the 
work outlined in the plan has already been completed. 
For example, employees are now enjoying the benefits 
of a new paid time off system that allows for the rollover 
of some unused time off into the next year.  

The group also defined core values which are now 

integral to daily practices 
and decisions at the bank. 

In the lending world, new 
software implementation 
is still underway as lenders 
and loan processors are 
exploring and learning 
how to use software that 
will ultimately improve 
processes for the customer, 
lender and the loan 
processor. 

On the other hand, branch 
transformation has 
required much thought and 
planning before the first 
plan for construction could 

be made. This project will be ongoing for several years 
as the evolution of each branch will hopefully provide 
opportunities for continued improvement in the next 
improved branches.

The few remaining projects from the original plan are 
highly specialized  so most committee members will be 
unable to help with their completion. With that in mind, 
the group has brainstormed new goals from which the 
bank’s Executive Committee chose new priorities to add 
to the plan. 

These new goals have reinvigorated the committee 
and provided new projects for committee members to 
contribute to.  With several new efforts underway, there 
is plenty of work to go around. New to the agenda are 
improved employee communications, the optimization 
of existing software programs and enhancing the 
customer’s digital experience through a redesign of the 
website.

Current committee members are Co-Chairs Tom Oyer 
and Jennifer Francis, Jennifer Adkins, Bethann Patterson, 
Cassie Stout, Judy Wohrer, Jodi Motta, Heather Groves, 
Matt Poston, JJ Wright, Brandi Betts, Annamarie Qualls, 
Justin Pike, Brenda Doles and Bryan Radabaugh.
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Revitalizing The Branch Experience
The largest piece of the Strategic Planning puzzle has 
been this concept we call Branch Transformation. It’s a 
phrase you hear batted around everywhere you go at 
VCNB lately but what does it really mean?

Branch transformation is exactly what it sounds like. It’s 
the transformation of our branches into something new, 
something better. It’s the revitalization of our branches 
so that they may better accommodate the needs of our 
customers in this 21st century banking world. 

The New Model
The question about what the branch should look like 
was examined from all angles. An executive team visited 
slightly larger community banks to learn from their 
successes and errors and explored how best practices 
found elsewhere could be used to benefit VCNB. Rather 
than reinvent the wheel, it made sense to find slightly 
larger community banks in other market areas that were 
willing to talk to VCNB and share what they’ve learned.

 It was through this process that an idea began to take 
shape. 

The idea was to create a space that is both inviting and 
efficient. The idea was to create a new flow that will 

eliminate long waits and lines and all the inconveniences 
that bank customers dislike. The idea was to make the 
bank a resource for information and assistance that can 
be either self-serve or that can be provided by a banker 
who is able to help the customer no matter what they 
need. 

The idea was to create a banking experience that will 
make the customer happy.

An Old Fashioned Approach To Modern Banking
The interesting thing about the new model is that it 
really isn’t a new concept. It’s an old idea that we are 
adapting to our needs and packaging into attractive 
new branch floor plans. 

In the early days of banking, when a customer entered 
the branch, the person they interacted with first was 
most likely to help them with anything they needed. 
There were not employees who specialized in a certain 
kind of loan or who only opened accounts. It was 
modern bankers who compartmentalized activities so 
that bankers worked in departments with specific tasks 
that limited the ways they could help a customer. 

With the revitalization and transformation of each 

Main Street view of 
the new branch in 

Ashville.
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branch, personal bankers take the place of consumer 
loan officers, new accounts officers and tellers. Instead 
of being stuck behind a desk or teller counter all day, 
employees are encouraged to walk around and to greet 
customers when they arrive. A customer who has a 
simple transaction like check cashing or paying a loan 
will be escorted to a central area where this task can be 
performed efficiently and quickly. 

A customer seeking a loan or to open an account will 
be invited into an office where they will receive private, 
personal service.  

Those who are more tech savvy may find self-service 
a more attractive option. Tech stations with iPads and 
color printers will be available for customers to seek 
information on their own. These stations also will make 
it easy for bank staff to provide customers with printed 
information sheets and demonstrate the VCNB app. 

All of this will be done in bright, airy spaces that are 
welcoming, pleasant and efficient. While the new offices 
will have a more modern feel, they also will embrace 
the bank’s identity through prominent use of the brand 
colors and logo. Each office will have a local emphasis 
too, using artwork that represents the community 
both past and present. Plus digital advertising screens 
that are centrally controlled can display messages 
about bank products and specials, upcoming events, 

and topics relevant to the local branch. Commercially 
printed brochures and posters will be replaced by 
electronic versions, streamlining the look of the offices 
and modernizing operations while saving money.

Frontline employees will be called Personal Bankers and 
their job will be to see to the needs of the customer in a 
way that puts the personal back in personal banking. 

Why now?
The banking industry is on the cusp of significant 
changes and there is a choice to be made. Stay ahead 
of the curve or react after those changes have already 
influenced customer banking habits? 

We have long prided ourselves for being willing to 
embrace change and opportunities, for being early 
adopters of technology and for being acutely aware 
that the decisions we make always impact customers, 
employees and shareholders. 

In other words, reacting after it’s done is not an option. 
Staying on top of the evolution of how people bank is 
the only way we know to do business.  

What Will The Customer Think?
Our choices have been in response to comments from 
our customers and we are certain our customers will 
love the new model. In fact, we have kept the customer 

Artists’ rendering of the new 
lobby in Laurelville. 
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in mind every step of the way. From the seating choices 
to how glass offices will provide greater privacy without 
creating physical barriers and from the placement of the 
iPad stations to how the space will flow, the customer 
has been prominent in every decision. 

With that said, we are willing to admit that we don’t 
have all the answers. In fact, as each branch is 
completed, the intent is to study workflow and customer 
experience so that adjustments or tweaks can be made. 
We expect learning opportunities at every branch that 
will influence next steps. 

Work Is Underway
Projects are now underway at several branches and 
are in various stages of completion. In Grove City, only 
a few updates were necessary to make the new model 
work suitably in the existing branch space. The work 
here is already done and Personal Bankers are assisting 
customers today. 

Just down the road in Circleville, work began with 
updates to the Court Street façade and to the drive thru 
where lanes were widened to accommodate larger 

vehicles. Additional work for updating the interior is 
planned and expected to be underway soon. 

In Lancaster, substantial changes are being made to our 
Friendly Bremen Banking Center on West Fair Avenue.  
This project includes the rerouting of the drive-thru lanes 
and changes in the customer parking area. Plus, a new 
addition to the building will include an employee lounge, 
employee restrooms and additional office space. This 
project is expected to be complete this year.

One of the bigger projects underway right now is 
the renovation of the Salt Creek Banking Center in 
Laurelville.  While construction is underway, the bank 
lobby has been temporarily relocated to the back of 
the building. Customers can enter through the back 
door which faces the drive-thru alley. New windows 
and an updated entrance configuration will freshen up 
the building’s exterior while the lobby will be updated 
from floor to ceiling. Renovations are expected to be 
complete later this year.

The most substantial of the bank’s branch 
transformation projects is taking place in Ashville where 

From left are Village Administrator Franklin Christman, 
Ashville Chief of Police Jeffrey George, Pickaway County Sheriff Robert Radcliff,

 Ashville Mayor Charles Wise, VCNB President Mark Erslan and CBI Chairman and CEO Tom Will.
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the difficult decision was made to replace the longtime 
Main Street building with a new facility. The bank 
moved out of this building and into 18 Long Street 
in January. Shortly after, the old bank building was 
demolished and ground was broken for a new facility 
that will take its place. 

This new building will have two entrances – one from 
Main Street and the other from the large parking lot 
behind the building. It will be a one-story structure with 
soaring ceilings and natural light aimed at providing 
a pleasing environment for doing bank business. 
Estimated completion is the end of summer.

While the bank has taken on a substantial amount of 
work to update and replace branches this year, the 
projects all flow well together and make sense in a 
larger picture. Another construction project is in the 
works for completion in 2021 as the Jackson branch 
has outgrown its storefront space. Property has been 
acquired and official plans will soon be announced. 

Looking Forward
This thing we call branch transformation has 
generated thought provoking discussion and provided 
opportunity to consider some big questions. How do 
we want to interact with customers? What do we want 
our branches to look and feel like? How should the 
customer feel when they come into the bank? 

This current phase of work being done at our Grove 
City, Ashville, Circleville, Laurelville and Lancaster West 
Fair locations is just the first step toward transforming 
all the bank’s branches. We look forward to the 
learning opportunities it will bring and to finding 
more meaningful ways to be a better bank for our 
customers. 

Find More Pictures and 
Other Content Related To 
This Year’s Annual Report 

on Our Blog at 

VCNBfamily.me

CBI Directors Mollie Grube and 
Larry Schieber are pictured 
breaking ground in Ashville. 
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While VCNB branches are being 
physically transformed, there is 
another transformation underway, 
this one involving how we interact 
with our customers.

In 2018, the bank created a 
new program that trains some 
employees to help customers with 
all of their needs. The VCNB Personal 
Banker Program has already picked 
up steam, attracting VCNB’s best 
and brightest bankers who wish to 
better themselves and the bank. 

Head of Human Resources 
Annamarie Qualls said that the bank 
currently employs forty-five Personal 
Bankers and that there is demand 
for more. “I think it is going really 
well. There’s a lot of enthusiasm and 
so much more training than we’ve 
ever had,” she said. “There’s a lot 
of energy surrounding the Personal 
Bankers and so I feel really good 
about it.”

The Personal Banker position 
harkens back to earlier days in 
banking when every employee 
could serve nearly every need of 
the customer. “Whether they’re 
making a deposit, opening an 
account, applying for a consumer 
loan, it doesn’t matter. The Personal 
Banker can help the customer with 
almost everything they need and the 
customer doesn’t have to be passed 
around to other employees who 
specialize in one or the other,” she 
explained. 

This level of cross training gives 
the Personal Banker a broader 
knowledge of banking and creates 
greater staffing efficiencies. It 

also provides the employee more 
opportunities for advancement. 
The program is structured with four 
levels of Personal Bankers, checks 
and balances for their knowledge 
gain, and opportunities for the 
employee to reach a higher pay level 
once trained. 

She indicated the program’s origins 
are with the bank’s Strategic 
Planning Committee which identified 
structured and more advanced 
training as a priority. 

Part of this push for training resulted 
in the creation of a new position in 
Human Resources. The Employee 
Development Officer position was 
filled in 2018 by Kyle Exline who 
Annamarie said was instrumental 
in creating and implementing the 
Personal Banker Program. “Kyle used 
her background in education to 
create an effective training program 
that we believe will make our 
Personal Bankers stronger,” she said.

Part of the training will also 
emphasize the bank’s Core Values 
and how these values should 
be used to guide daily work and 
decision making.  

She emphasized that this position 
requires a certain kind of person - 
someone who is good with people, 
attentive to detail and who has 
good sales skills. “We don’t care if 
they’ve never worked in banking. All 
of that can be taught. We can teach 
you how to take a deposit or make a 
loan. We can’t teach personality and 
we can’t teach you how to be good 
with people. It’s really important that 
our Personal Bankers enjoy people 

and have those other skills that are 
important to succeeding here,” she 
said. 

Moreover, VCNB is seeking people 
who wish to make banking their 
career. “We need people who strive 
to learn and who want to make 
banking with our bank their career,” 
she said. “We want them to love our 
customers and to build their careers 
taking care of them.”

“It’s easy to see the physical 
transformations taking place in 
our offices but this transformation 
is just as important. Changing the 
way we interact with our customers, 
improving the way we help them is 
a huge part of who we want to be 
and how we want our customers to 
feel when they come in the bank,” 
Annamarie concluded.

Personal Bankers
A New Take On An Old Way Of Banking

Sandra Yerian, 
Personal Banker 
in Logan
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        $261,000
     Invested in 2018 in community programs,  
         events, schools and other local 

By the Numbers

     
  75%

The amount of our workforce 
                                 that is female. 

  241
       Dedicated employees in 17 branches  
 and 2 operations centers. That’s 229 

full time and 12 part time employees.

 75,000+
                    
              The number of 
                   customers with accounts
                                  at VCNB.
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Gem Beverages: 
A Southern Ohio Tradition Since 1923

If southern Ohio had an official drink it would most 
certainly come from Gem Beverages in Wellston. This 
longtime family business has been distributing Ski and 
Gem Brand drinks for decades, delighting generations 
with their unique flavors and colorful packaging. 

The company distributes Ski, Diet Ski, Cherry Ski, 
Tropical Ski, Double Cola, Jumbo Orange and Gem 
Cream Soda from the 11th Street location that’s been 
home to Gem since the fifties. 

Owner Rex Holzapfel is just the third owner of the 
business since it opened in 1923 and is proud of both his 
product and the business’ history. 

The business began in 1923 when two local men – Will 
Corn and Harvey Malloy started a bottling business in an 
old garage that was located where the Kroger parking 
lot now stands. On Saint Patrick’s Day 1938, Holzapfel’s 

father and two uncles purchased the business with a 
little help from their mother. “My dad was born in 1923 
so he was the same age as the business. He was fifteen 
years old when they bought it. He was the youngest but 
he worked and received a paycheck just like the other 
two,” Rex explained. 

The bottling and distribution business expanded over 
time, as they bottled their own line of Gem flavors. In 
1956, they replaced their Gem cola when they began 
bottling Double Cola. A few years later, the company 
began bottling Ski, which eventually became a regional 
favorite. 

The elder Holzapfels – Henry, Frank and Rex’s dad 
Leonard – remained involved in the business even after 
Rex purchased it in 1996. Leonard would continue 
working on reports and making bank runs until shortly 
before his death at the age of 95. 

The three Holzapfel Brothers  - Henry, Frank and Leonard are pictured watching the first bottles of “Double 
Dry Ginger Ale” coming off the production line at the Gem Bottling Plant in Wellston in the late sixties.



“The three of them would go to Lee’s (Lee’s Steakhouse is 
a popular local restaurant near the Gem headquarters) 
every day at 1:30 or two o’clock. They always went for 
coffee. They could be arguing about something but 
once the coffee came, the argument was done and that 
was that,” he said with a smile.

This went on every day for nearly six decades. When 
Frank died in 1999 and Henry in 2000, Rex said that his 
wife suggested he needed to have coffee with his dad. 
“I thought I was too busy but I made the time. Ended 
up going every day for eighteen years and I’m glad,” he 
said. 

The business has long been a family affair. His brothers, 
cousins and others have worked after school and 
summer jobs over the years. Today, Rex’s own children 
are involved in the family business. His daughter does 
the books while his son drives a route. “In fact, it seems 
like almost everyone has worked here at some point. 
The kids laugh because when I’m out I’ll say, ‘that person 
used to work at Gem Bottling and that person used to 
work at Gem’ and the kids will ask ‘WHO didn’t work 
there!’ I just laugh,” he said sheepishly. 

Unfortunately, the industry has seen a number of 
changes over time that have made his work a bit more 
challenging. It was a tough decision but Rex said they 
chose to close the bottling division in 2006 and to focus 
on the distribution side of the business. “It was a hard 
decision but it was something that needed to be done. 
I went from working 55 or sixty hours a week and not 
making much money at all to turning a better profit in 
half that time,” he said. 

Once up on a time, Rex said that soft drink bottlers 
could be found in nearly every town. “It’s just how it 
worked. Local drinks, national soft drinks, they all used 
local bottlers. Now it’s getting hard to find those smaller 
bottlers. It’s getting hard to find someone that will bottle 
for you,” he said. 

The highly competitive soft drink industry is ruled by 
large national names that can afford to buy shelf space 
in grocery and convenience stores while some large 
retailers refuse to carry regional brands. “This makes it 
a lot harder. But our drinks have a following. Ski has a 
following and the customers demand it around here.”

When asked what he would tell someone who hasn’t 
tasted Ski, Rex laughed. “I would tell them they haven’t 

lived! It’s the best thing since sliced bread,” he said. 
“When people ask what it tastes like I always say it 
tastes like Mountain Dew but better.”

Ski was born in 1956, a product of the Double Cola 
Company of Chattanooga, TN. In their advertising, the 
company boasts that it’s made with “real lemon and 
real orange juices with a kick.” The country band The 
Kentucky Headhunters mentioned Ski in their 1989 song 
“Dumas Walker.” 

The band originated in the Greensburg, Kentucky area 
which was a big Ski bottling area. When suggested that 
they immortalized Ski with their song, Rex laughed and 
suggested that Ski immortalized the Headhunters. “We 
were around a long time before they were,” he quipped. 

Rex is also quick to point out that Ski has continued 
to grow in southern Ohio while Pepsi and Coke have 
not. He said that they first introduced Ski in Vinton 
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The colorful Ski and Gem brand products, staples in 
many southern Ohio homes, are commonly found in 
area convenience stores.
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County in 1961 and that the drink’s 
popularity spread like wildfire in that 
community. From there, it gained 
popularity in Jackson County and 
beyond and has continued to grow. 
Today, Gem Beverages is responsible 
for distribution of the Ski brand 
and other drinks in eight counties 
including Jackson, Vinton, Athens, 
Hocking, Ross, Pike, Meigs and 
Gallia. They recently began 
delivering to the Duke and Duchess 
stores in Chillicothe because 
customers requested it. 

He said the best way for customers 
to get a product in their local store is 
to simply ask store management to 
carry it. “That’s how we ended up in 
Duke and Duchess, customers were 

asking for it,” he said. 

The drinks are available in a variety 
of sizes including twelve and six 
packs of cans, 20 ounce bottles, 12 
ounce long neck bottles, 16.9 ounce 
six packs and two liters.

In looking toward the future, Rex 
says he plans to “just keep doing 
what we’re doing. By the grace of 
God, we’re still here,” he said. But he 
has a secret weapon in the form of a 
nineteen year old who he calls “the 
face of the future.” 

Josh Lung started at Gem with an 
after school job a few years ago and 
says that he loves working there. “I 
just love being here. I don’t know. 

It’s a great place to work and great 
people to be around,” Josh said with 
a huge smile. 

“You know how some kids like to 
play sports? Well, work has always 
been Josh’s sport,” Rex said of the 
young man who he has known since 
he was a small tot. “He reminds me 
of me sometimes, the way he gets 
so excited about this place. He’s 
definitely the new face of Gem.”

Today, Rex also enjoys working with 
his son Kevin and daughter Kerri. 
His wife Vicki owns Holzapfel Family 
Clinic in Jackson and the couple 
have four grandchildren- Olivia, 
Kash, Easton and Maizy plus another 
on the way.

The new faces of Gem Beverages, Josh Lung and Rex Holzapfel, are pictured outside the company’s Wellston 
distribution center. 
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Don  Boone Retires From CBI/Bank Board
Don Boone retired from the 
Community Bancshares/Vinton 
County National Bank Board of 
Directors in 2018 after a 24 year 
stint that started with the Friendly 
Bremen Bank Board.

He joined the board because he said 
CBI Chairman Bob Will and Bremen 
Bank President Bob Alt came to see 
him and asked if he would like to be 
part of the board. “I thought it was 
a pretty nice opportunity. I did all my 
banking with them and I thought it 
was a good opportunity. Nice to be 
asked,” he explained. 

Boone had a long and interesting 
career starting with two years in the 
Army that stretched into a career 
with the Army Reserves. Just out of 
college, he joined the Army, serving 
with the Third Armored Division in 
Germany during the Cold War. 

He signed up for the Army Reserves 
for another tour and ended up 
staying 28 years. He retired a full 
Colonel after thirty years of service in 
the military. “That was a challenge 
but I enjoyed it. I enjoyed serving 
my country and am glad for the 
experience,” he said. 

Closer to home, Boone worked for 
Anchor Hocking for nearly twenty 
years and owned several businesses 
including Stuart Burial Vaults in 
Bremen and Logan Monument 
Company. He sold these companies 
to his sons about fifteen years ago 
and has since enjoyed retirement. 

He and wife Ledia are snowbirds, 
splitting their year between Ohio 
and the Cocoa Beach area of 
Florida. 

Being near the Florida Space Coast, 
there is a U.S. Air Force base where 
he can use the facilities. “We love it 
here,” he said as he enthusiastically 
discussed the growing private 
enterprises surrounding rockets 
and the rocket launches that 
occasionally take place.

But it’s the great outdoors that 
Boone loves to talk about most. An 
avid hunter and fly fisherman, the 
85 year old can describe in depth 
everything from the beauty of the 
landscape to the technique needed 
to properly cast a fly when fly fishing. 
“With a name like Boone, you have 
to hunt,” he exclaimed. 
 
He laughed when he said “I’ve killed 
four deer - two with cars and two 
with guns!”

He also is a hiker who has hiked over 
250 miles on the Appalachian Trail 
in North Carolina, South Carolina, 
Virginia, Pennsylvania and New 
Hampshire. Most of those miles were 
with family including a week with 

his wife in Pennsylvania as well as 
weeklong hikes with his sons and 
grandkids. 

He speaks fondly of the camaraderie 
found among hikers on the 
Appalachian Trail and the way they 
look out for each other. “Everyone 
looks out for everyone else and you 
meet people from all backgrounds, 
all walks of life,” he explained 
before revealing his trail nickname. 
“Someone else on the Trail has to 
give you a nickname and mine was 
Colonel!” 

He laments never having 
opportunity to hike in upstate New 
York and says that he would still like 
to do that someday. 

“You see a lot of interesting things 
along the trail,” he mused after 
describing a crudely carved stone 
left near a fire tower. It memorializes 
a little girl who died after wandering 
away. “Everyone leaves quarters, I 
suppose to salute the little girl and 
her parents. You just never know 
what you’re going to see out there.”

Although now retired from the 
board, Boone speaks fondly of the 
bank and the board. “I had a nice 
relationship with the people on 
the board. You become sort of like 
family after a while,” he said. “It’s a 
pretty special thing to see the bank 
grow and to know you were part 
of that. But I really credit the staff 
of good people we employ. I can 
see why it’s grown and grown. It’s 
because of the people,” he said. 

Boone has three sons, a 
stepdaughter and six grandchildren. 

DON BOONE
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When CBI hosts its annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting and Dinner 
on Tuesday, April 2, it will take place 
at Cook’s Creek Golf Club near South 
Bloomfield. Located on 
on U.S. 23 in Pickaway County, 
Cook’s Creek is unlike any golf 
course you’ve ever seen. 

In addition to simply being a 
beautiful place, it is known as one 
of the best public golf courses in 
Central Ohio. In fact, it was rated 
the 2017 Top Pick for Central Ohio 
Public Golf Courses by the Columbus 
Dispatch. 

However, what makes the place 
truly special is the unique story of 
how it came to be and the family 
ownership that helps make guests 

come in as strangers but leave 
feeling like family. 

Cathy Cook’s eyes beam when she 
tells the story of how the family 
business came to be some 25 years 
ago. “This is truly a family business. 
My son is the Director of Food and 
Beverage, my daughter as a college 
student is involved with all aspects 
including operation of the Cookside 
Café, my dad is the Captain Cook 
of this ship and I’m the golf pro, sort 
of the glue that holds everything 
together.”

The Cook family name is 
synonymous with golf – her brother 
John Cook is a former PGA Tour 
player with 21 PGA Tour victories, 
now currently a TV analyst and  Dad 

Jim Cook has a powerful name in 
the business of golf as well. Cathy is 
also known for her work as a pioneer 
in programs that teach kids to play 
golf. 

Building the 250 acre golf course 
on farmland bordering the Scioto 
River and Little Walnut Creek was 
the logical next step for the golfing 
family. The property was previously 
a farm that sometimes struggled 
when Scioto River flood waters 
spilled out of the banks into the 
fields and forests. However, it was 
ideal property for a golf course.
The year was 1992 and the Cooks 
pooled their knowledge and 
experience to begin transforming 
the property using designs from 
local architects who were assisted 

Cook’s Creek Golf Club
Family and Golf Are Par For The Course
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by John Cook. The first nine holes opened in 1993 while 
the other nine debuted in 1995. 

The golf course is bordered by 140 acres of wetlands and 
forests that the Cooks chose to leave for the wildlife - 
eagles, blue heron, deer, fox, rabbits, coyotes and other 
creatures call this place home. 

The family actually has a special connection to this 
land. Here, Cathy’s grandfather, Burt Cook, worked 
as a young man, watering the livestock for meals and 
.25 cents a day. A giant sycamore tree and the old 
fashioned hand pump that her grandfather used all 
those years ago still stand on the fifteenth hole, near the 
1800 farmhouse where Cathy’s parents reside. 

While the property is close to U.S. Route 23, the course 
feels quiet and relaxing. Calming is a word often used 
to describe the property which is anchored by beautiful 
lakes and incredible old trees. Each hole is its own 
sanctuary, not seeing any of the other golfers on the 
course.
 
“We want people to come here and have fun. We want 
them to relax. We want to make their day better and 
make them want to come back. We want them to feel 
like they’re family,” she said. “Only we won’t put them to 
work like we would real family,” she laughed. 

The Cooks are working to create an environment that is 
relaxed and friendly for not just the experienced golfer 
but for the novice as well. That’s why they have active 
programs for women and for juniors. They also are in 
the process of developing the menu at Cooks Bar & Grill, 
hoping to create a dining experience that will appeal to 
locals who just want to eat. They invite folks to stop by 
any time of the year for a full meal or just for appetizers 
and drinks on the deck. 

They also offer a banquet room that seats 
approximately 150 people for weddings, reunions, 
parties and other events. They offer full services 
including linens and food but event organizers are 
welcome to bring in their own caterers and decorators 
as well. 

Last year, Cooks Creek even hosted Governor John 
Kasich who visited an event hosted by House of 
Representatives District 92 Representative Gary Scherer. 
She said that Scherer frequently hosts community 
meetings here and that several organizations and golf 

leagues use the facilities. 

They also have a strong following of members and 
others who simply like to play the course. “It is humbling 
when someone chooses to spend their time with us,” 
Cathy said. “It is a high compliment when they choose 
to come here for an hour or for the day. It validates all 
the hard work we’ve been putting into this place and the 
efforts we’ve made to make it the place where people 
want to be. We don’t take this lightly.”

On a tour of the property, Cathy good naturedly joked 
with guests, calling them by name and making small 
talk. She seems to know the entire property like the back 
of her hand and takes pride in the work they are doing 
to improve it. 

The Cook family had actually sold the golf club three 
times before buying it back in August 2016. She indicated 
that parts of the property had deteriorated after the 
Cooks sold the golf club. They are working hard to bring 
it back to where the family believes it should be. “We 
have made a lot of progress and we know this because 
each time people come, they see the progress and they 
mention it. For a while it felt like two steps forward and 
five gigantic steps back. But we’re starting to make 
some real progress and we’re always looking for ways to 
improve,” she said.  

Golf provides great life lessons, according to the 
seasoned pro. “Golf teaches you to face your fears. If 
you are intimidated by the water, you have to learn it’s 
just water. If you focus on where you want to go and 
let go, you’re fine. A lot of what golf teaches is how to 
manage yourself and about what you’re focusing on,” 
she said. 

Cook’s Creek Golf Club is located at 16405 US Highway 
23, South Bloomfield.  Learn more about Cook’s Creek at 
www.cookscreekgc.com/. 
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2018 2017  

ASSETS

               Cash and due from financial institutions $     31,442,483                       $     40,978,255  

               Federal funds sold 1,102,771                                3,629,427 

                  Total cash and cash equivalents  32,545,254                              44,607,682 

               Securities available for sale  62,386,195                              68,162,028 

               Securities held to maturity  91,551,376                            104,852,680 

                 (Estimated fair value $90,349,018 - 2018 and $104,164,675 - 2017 )

               Other investments  4,650,548                                4,650,548 

               Loans

                  Total Loans  715,060,496                            667,419,707 

                  Net deferred loan origination costs  2,871,743                                1,674,697 

                  Allowance for loan losses  (5,903,017 )  (5,630,598 )

                                Net loans  712,029,222                            663,463,806 

               Premises and equipment, net  14,178,122                              12,382,194 

               Foreclosed assets  118,002                                   342,862 

               Bank-owned life insurance  5,770,684                                5,643,323 

               Goodwill  6,838,285                                6,838,285 

               Intangible assets  1,032,987                                1,249,313 

               Accrued interest receivable and other assets  6,461,662                                11,447,217 

                  Total assets $   937,562,337                       $   923,639,938      

LIABILITIES

               Deposits

                  Noninterest-bearing demand $   144,015,766                        $   141,067,446 

                  Interest-bearing demand  271,632,545                            288,508,140 

                  Savings  93,754,697                              92,517,810 

                  Certificates of deposit  306,313,758                            259,697,097 

               Total Deposits  815,716,766                            781,790,493 

               Repurchase agreements  2,016,055                                1,400,429 

               Federal Home Loan Bank advances -                              25,000,000 

               Accrued interest payable and other liabilities  9,910,553                               9,145,214 

               Total liabilities  $   827,643,374                       $   817,336,136

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

               Common stock  ($25 par, 6,000,000 shares authorized; 1,307,898 shares           

            outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017  32,697,450                              32,697,450 

               Additional paid-in capital  636,165                                   636,165 

               Retained earnings  83,697,021                              77,539,496 

               Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (7,111,673 )                              (4,569,309 )

               Total shareholders’ equity $   109,918,963                        $   106,303,802

                  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $   937,562,337                       $   923,639,938

See Accompanying Notes

Community Bancshares, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017
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Community Bancshares, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

INTEREST INCOME

               Loans, including fees $            34,825,027 $          30,982,661

               Taxable securities 2,254,193 2,301,504

               Nontaxable securities  1,604,632 1,703,599

               Federal funds sold and other interest income  552,445 407,480

                  Total interest income  39,236,297 35,395,244

INTEREST EXPENSE

               Deposits  4,646,041   3,181,736 

               Federal Home Loan Bank advances   84,505   37,574 

               Repurchase agreements 5,591  2,703 

                  Total interest expense  4,736,137   3,222,013 

NET INTEREST INCOME  34,500,160 32,173,231

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 1,145,000 794,000

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES  33,355,160 31,379,231

NONINTEREST INCOME

               Service charges on customer accounts   4,975,944   4,799,238 

               Security gains/(losses) (4,759 )  (10,170

               Other 677,594  717,016 

                  Total noninterest income 5,648,779  5,506,084 

NONINTEREST EXPENSE

               Salaries and employee benefits 15,779,291  14,752,745 

               Occupancy  1,625,927  1,547,435 

               Equipment  1,247,430   987,755 

               FDIC insurance  267,293   280,946 

               Data processing  4,129,549   3,251,111 

               Ohio Financial Institution Tax  850,430   802,183 

               Other  4,864,747   4,449,865 

                  Total noninterest expense
 

28,764,667  26,072,040 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES  10,239,272 10,813,275

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1,727,531 4,175,069

NET INCOME     $            8,511,741 $            6,638,206

BASIC WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES

OUTSTANDING FOR COMPUTING EARNINGS PER SHARE 1,307,898 1,307,898

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE $                        6.51                       $                       5.08

)

See Accompanying Notes

2018 2017
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Community Bancshares, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
December 31, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

NET INCOME $      8,511,741 $    6,638,206

               Other comprehensive income (loss)

                   Unrealized gains (losses) on securities

                              Unrealized holding gain (loss) arising during the  
                              period (1,041,278 ) 1,336,290

                              Reclassification adjustment for realized (gains) losses                 4,759             10,170

                              Net unrealized holding gain (loss) (1,036,519 ) 1,346,460

                              Tax effect             217,669         (457,796 )

                              Net of tax           (818,850 )           888,664

                   Defined benefit pension plans:

                              Net gain (loss) arising during the period (2,596,729 ) 521,019

                              Loss included in net pension expense             415,066          424,370

                              Sub total (2,181,663 ) 945,389

                              Tax effect             458,149         (198,532 )

                              Net of tax        (1,723,514 )          746,857

                   Total other comprehensive income (loss)        (2,542,364 )        1,635,521

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  $      5,969,377 $    8,273,727

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

See Accompanying Notes

Common 
Stock

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2017 $      32,697,450  $         636,165 $   72,249,904 $     (5,330,018 )   $  100,253,501 

               Net income      6,638,206            6,638,206 

              Other comprehensive income               1,635,521 1,635,521

              Reclassification of disproportionate tax effects 874,812 (874,812 )

              Cash dividends declared ($1.70 per share)                                                        (2,223,426 )                                   (2,223,426 )

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2017      32,697,450          636,165 77,539,496   (4,569,309 )
                 
      106,303,802

               Net income 8,511,741               8,511,741

               Other comprehensive loss (2,542,364 ) (2,542,364          )

               Cash dividends declared ($1.80 per share)
 
____________ 

 
____________      (2,354,216 )      ____________      (2,354,216 )

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 $      32,697,450 $         636,165  $  83,697,021 $     (7,111,673 )   $  109,918,963



Community Bancshares, Inc. 2018                                                                                                                                                     25

                                                      2018  2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

               Net income $    8,511,741 $     6,638,206

               Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities

                  Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment 1,207,507 1,064,425

                  Amortization of intangible assets 216,326 316,889

                  Net amortization (accretion) of securities 757,562 1,041,541

                  Security (gains)/losses 4,759 10,170

                  (Gains) /losses on sale of loans (37,299 )     -

                  (Gains) /losses on sale/writedowns of other real estate owned (30,481 ) 24,698

                  (Gains)/losses on disposal of fixed assets (7,076 ) (22,142 )

                  Earnings on bank-owned life insurance (127,361 ) (129,021 )

                  Loans originated for sale (2,728,156 )     -

                  Provision for loan losses 1,145,000 794,000

                  Changes in:

                              Deferred taxes and impact of federal tax law changes 82,928 1,588,633

                              Net deferred loan origination fees and costs (1,197,046 ) (444,493 )

                              Accrued interest receivable and other assets 5,578,445 (4,988,979 )

                              Accrued interest payable and other liabilities (1,455,563 ) (1,308,762 )

                                             Net cash from operating activities 11,921,286 4,585,165

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

               Proceeds from maturities, repayments, sales and calls of securities available for sale 4,211,849 4,742,056

               Purchase of securities available for sale - (9,192,592 )

               Proceeds from maturities, repayments and calls of securities held to maturity 32,216,023 41,037,090

               Purchase of securities held to maturity (19,149,574 ) (25,657,227 )

               Purchase of other investments - (37,951 )

               Proceeds from sale of loans 2,765,455     -

               Net change in loans (48,944,020 ) (34,691,859 )

               Property and equipment expenditures (3,011,009 ) (1,151,347 )

               Proceeds from the disposal of equipment 14,650 540,457

               Proceeds from sale of real estate owned 685,991 182,188

                                             Net cash from investing activities (31,210,635 ) (24,229,185 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

               Net change in deposits 33,926,273 26,157,163

               Repurchase agreements 615,626 195,043

               Proceeds from FHLB advances 25,000,000

               Repayment of FHLB advances (25,000,000 )                                         (15,000,000 )

               Cash dividends paid (2,314,978 ) (2,197,269 )

                                             Net cash from financing activities 7,226,921 34,154,937

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (12,062,428 ) 14,510,917

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 44,607,682 30,096,765

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $  32,545,254 $   44,607,682

CASH PAID DURING THE YEAR

               Interest $    4,612,744 $    3,203,866

               Income taxes 1,310,000 2,505,000

NON CASH ACTIVITIES

               Transfer of loans to other real estate owned $       430,650 $        377,010

Community Bancshares, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

See Accompanying Notes



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017

Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES                                                                                                           

   
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial 

statements include Community Bancshares, Inc., and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Vinton County National Bank (VCNB), and its wholly owned 
subsidiary VCNB Financial Family Investments, Inc., together referred 
to as the “Corporation.”  VCNB Financial Family Investments, Inc. was 
formed for the purpose of purchasing investment securities.  Significant 
intercompany transactions have been eliminated in the consolidation. 

NATURE OF OPERATIONS - The Corporation provides financial 
services through its offices to customers primarily in Vinton, Ross, Fair-
field, Hocking, Pickaway, Franklin and contiguous counties. Its primary 
deposit products are checking, savings, and term certificate accounts, 
and its primary lending products are residential mortgage, commercial, 
and installment loans. Substantially all loans are secured by specific 
items of collateral including business assets, consumer assets, and real 
estate. Commercial loans are expected to be repaid from cash flow from 
operations of businesses. Real estate loans are secured by both residential 
and commercial real estate. There are no significant concentrations of 
loans to any one industry or customer. However, the customers’ ability 
to repay their loans is dependent on the real estate and general economic 
conditions in the Corporation’s market area. Other financial instruments 
which potentially represent concentrations of credit risk include deposit 
accounts in other financial institutions and federal funds sold.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS - The Corporation has evaluated subse-
quent events for recognition and disclosure through February 27, 2019, 
which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
    USE OF ESTIMATES - To prepare financial statements in con-
formity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of   America, management makes estimates and assumptions based 
on available information. These estimates and assumptions affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and disclosures provided, 
and actual results could differ. 

CASH FLOW REPORTING - Cash and cash equivalents include cash 
on hand, demand deposits with other financial institutions, and federal 
funds sold. Net cash flows are reported for customer loan and deposit 
transactions, interest-bearing time deposits with other financial insti-
tutions, and short-term borrowings with maturities of 90 days or less. 

SECURITIES - Securities are classified as held to maturity and carried 
at amortized cost when management has the positive intent and ability 
to hold them to maturity. Securities are classified as available for sale 
when they might be sold before maturity. Securities available for sale are 
carried at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses reported 
in other comprehensive income, net of tax. Other securities, such as 
Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve stock, are carried 
at cost, classified as restricted securities and periodically evaluated for 
impairment based upon ultimate recovery of par value. 

Interest and dividend income includes amortization of purchase pre-
mium or discount. Gains and losses from sales of securities are recorded 
on the trade date.

Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impair-
ment  (OTTI) at least on a quarterly basis and more frequently when 
economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation. For secu-
rities in an unrealized loss position, management considers the extent 
and duration of the unrealized loss, and the financial condition and 
near-term prospects of the issuer. Management also assesses whether it 
intends to sell, or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell, 
a security in an unrealized loss position before recovery of its amortized 
cost basis. If either of the  criteria regarding intent or requirement to 
sell is met, the entire difference between amortized cost and fair value 
is recognized as impairment through earnings. For debt securities that 
do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the amount of impairment 
is split into two components as follows: 1) OTTI related to credit loss, 
which must be recognized in the income statement and 2) OTTI related 
to other factors, which is recognized in other comprehensive income. 
The credit loss is defined as the difference between the present value of 
the cash flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis. 
For equity securities, the entire amount of impairment is recognized 
through earnings. 

LOANS - Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold 
for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are reported at the 
principal balance outstanding, net of deferred loan origination fees and 
costs, and an allowance for loan losses. 

Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan 
origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred 
and recognized in interest income using the level-yield method without 

anticipating prepayments. Interest income is discontinued when full 
loan repayment is in doubt, typically when payments are past due over 
90 days delinquent unless the credit is well secured and in the process 
of collection. Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
loan. In all cases, loans are placed on nonaccrual or charged-off at an 
earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful. 

All interest accrued but not received for loans placed on non-
accrual is reversed against interest income. Interest received on 
such loans is accounted for on the cash-basis method until qual-
ifying for return to accrual. Loans are returned to accrual status 
when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due 
are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.

ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES - The allowance for loan losses 
is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit losses. Loan loss-
es are charged against the allowance when management believes the 
uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries, 
if any, are credited to the allowance. Management estimates the allow-
ance balance required using past loan loss experience, the nature and 
volume of the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations 
and estimated collateral values, economic conditions, and other factors. 
Allocations of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the en-
tire allowance is available for any loan that, in management’s judgment, 
should be charged-off. 

The allowance consists of specific and general components. The specific 
component relates to loans that are individually classified as impaired. 

Loan impairment is reported when, based upon current information 
and events, full payment under the loan contractual terms is not expected. 
Loans, for which the terms have been modified, resulting in a conces-
sion and for which the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties, 
are considered troubled debt restructurings and classified as impaired. 

Factors considered by management in determining impairment in-
clude payment status, collateral value, and the probability of collecting 
scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that expe-
rience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are 
not classified as impaired. Management determines the significance of 
payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking 
into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and 
the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, 
the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in 
relation to the principal and interest owed. 

Impairment is evaluated in total for smaller-balance loans of similar 
nature such as residential mortgage, consumer, and credit card loans and, 
accordingly, they are not separately identified for impairment disclosure. 
Commercial and commercial real estate loans of $250,000 or larger are 
individually evaluated for impairment. If a loan is impaired, a portion of 
the allowance is allocated so that the loan is reported, net, at the present 
value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s existing rate or at the 
fair value of collateral if repayment is expected solely from the collateral. 
Troubled debt restructurings are separately identified for impairment 
disclosures and are measured at the present value of estimated future 
cash flows using the loan’s effective rate at inception. If a troubled debt 
restructuring is considered to be a collateral dependent loan, the loan 
is reported, net, at the fair value of the collateral. For troubled debt 
restructurings that subsequently default, the Corporation determines 
the amount of reserve in accordance with the accounting policy for the 
allowance for loan losses.
 The general component of the allowance covers loans collectively 
evaluated for impairment and is based on historical loss experience ad-
justed for current factors. The historical loss experience is determined 
by portfolio segment and is based on the actual loss history experienced 
by the Company in each segment over the most recent twelve quar-
ters. This actual loss experience is supplemented with other econom-
ic factors based on the risks present for each portfolio segment. These 
economic factors include consideration of the following:  levels of and 
trends in delinquencies and  impaired loans; levels of experience, ability 
and depth of management, changes in lending procedures and policies, 
and other factors. Management considers the following economic and 
risk factors when determining the appropriate level of the allowance for 
loan losses for non-impaired loans in each of the following segments:
Commercial Real Estate Loans. Commercial real estate loans are subject to 
underwriting standards and processes similar to commercial loans. These 
loans are viewed primarily as cash flow loans and the repayment of these 
loans is largely dependent on the successful operation of the property. Loan 
performance may be adversely affected by factors impacting the general 
economy or conditions specific to the real estate market such as geograph-
ic location and property types. Management specifically considers vacan-
cy rates for office and industrial properties in its market area, as well as 
real estate values and, to a lesser extent, unemployment and energy prices.
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Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES                                                                                                                        
   
Commercial Loans. Commercial credit is extended to commercial custom-
ers for use in normal business operations to finance working capital needs, 
equipment purchases, or other projects. The majority of these borrowers 
are customers doing business within our geographic regions. These loans 
are generally underwritten individually and secured with the assets of the 
company and the personal guarantee of the business owners. Commercial 
loans are made based primarily on the historical and projected cash flow of 
the borrower and the underlying collateral provided by the borrower. Man-
agement specifically considers unemployment, energy prices and, to a less-
er extent, real estate values and vacancies in the Corporation’s market area.

Consumer Real Estate Loans. Consumer real estate loans represent loans to 
consumers for the purchase, refinance or improvement of a residence. These 
loans also include variable rate home equity lines of credit. Real estate market 
values at the time of origination directly affect the amount of credit extended 
and, in the event of default, subsequent changes in these values may impact 
the severity of losses. Factors considered by management include unemploy-
ment levels and residential real estate values in the Corporation’s market area.

Consumer Loans. Consumer loans are primarily comprised of loans made 
directly to consumers. These loans are underwritten based on several 
factors including debt to income, type of collateral and loan to collater-
al value, credit history and relationship with the borrower. Unemploy-
ment rates and energy prices are specifically considered by management.
 PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT - Land is carried at cost. Premises and 
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortiza-
tion. Depreciation and amortization are computed using both straight-line 
and accelerated methods based upon the estimated useful life of the asset. 
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as in-
curred. Expenditures for additions and major improvements are capitalized.
 FORECLOSED ASSETS - Assets acquired through or instead of 
loan    foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less costs to sell 
when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. These assets are sub-
sequently accounted for at lower of cost or fair value less estimat-
ed costs to sell. If fair value declines, a valuation allowance is re-
corded through expense. Costs after acquisition are expensed.
 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS - Transfers of financial as-
sets are accounted for as sales, when control over the assets has been re-
linquished. Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered 
when the assets have been isolated from the Corporation, the transferee 
obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advan-
tage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and the 
Corporation does not maintain effective control over the transferred as-
sets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity.
 FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK (FHLB) STOCK - The bank is a mem-
ber of the FHLB system. Members are required to own a certain amount of 
stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in 
additional amounts. FHLB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted 
security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate re-
covery of par value. Both cash and stock dividends are reported as income.
 FEDERAL RESERVE BANK (FRB) STOCK - The bank is a member of its 
regional Federal Reserve Bank. FRB stock is carried at cost, classified as a re-
stricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate 
recovery of par value. Both cash and stock dividends are reported as income. 
 BANK OWNED LIFE INSURANCE - The Corporation has purchased 
life insurance policies on certain key executives. Bank owned life insur-
ance is recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance 
contract at the balance sheet date, which is the cash surrender value adjust-
ed for other charges or other amounts due that are probable at settlement. 
 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS - Goodwill results 
from business acquisitions and represents the excess of the purchase price 
over the fair value of acquired tangible assets and liabilities and identifiable 
intangible assets as of the acquisition date. Goodwill, determined to have an 
indefinite useful life, is not amortized, but is assessed at least annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that a 
goodwill impairment test should be performed. The Corporation has elect-
ed December 31 as the date  to perform the annual goodwill impairment 
test.  Any such impairment will be recognized in the period identified.
Other intangible assets consist of core deposit and acquired customer relation-
ship intangible assets arising from whole bank and branch acquisitions. They 
are initially measured at fair value and then are amortized on an accelerated 
method over their estimated useful lives, which is estimated to be ten years.
 LONG-TERM  ASSETS - These assets are reviewed for impairment when 
events indicate their carrying amount may not be recoverable from future 
undiscounted cash flows. If impaired, the assets are recorded at fair value.

 BENEFIT PLANS - Pension expense is the net of service and interest 
cost, return on plan assets, and amortization of gains and losses not imme-
diately recognized in earnings. 401(k) plan expense is the amount contrib-
uted by the Corporation.
 REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS - Substantially all repurchase agreement 
liabilities represent amounts advanced by various customers. Securities are  
pledged  to  cover  these  liabilities, which  are  not  covered  by  federal  
deposit  insurance. 
 INCOME TAXES - Income tax expense is the total of the current year in-
come tax due or refundable and the change in deferred tax assets and liabil-
ities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts 
for the temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases 
of assets and liabilities, computed using enacted tax rates. A valuation al-
lowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets to the amount expected to 
be realized.
 A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than  
not” that the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination with a 
tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the 
largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being real-
ized on examination. For tax positions not meeting the  “more likely than 
not” test, no tax benefit is  recorded. The Corporation recognizes inter-
est and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.  
 LOAN COMMITMENTS AND RELATED FINANCIAL INSTRU-
MENTS  Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instru-
ments, such as commitments to make loans and commercial letters of 
credit, issued to meet customer  financing needs. The face amount for 
these items represents the exposure to loss, before considering  custom-
er collateral or ability to repay. Such financial instruments are recorded 
when they are funded. Instruments, such as standby letters of credit, that 
are considered financial guarantees are recorded at fair value at inception.
 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Fair values of fi-
nancial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and 
other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in a separate note. Fair value 
estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment re-
garding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, espe-
cially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in as-
sumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect the estimates. 
 EARNINGS PER SHARE - Earnings per share is based on weighted-av-
erage common shares outstanding. The Corporation has no potentially di-
lutive securities.                
  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - Comprehensive income consists of 
net income and other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive in-
come/loss includes unrealized gains and losses on securities available for 
sale and changes in the funded status of the defined benefit pension plan, 
which are also recognized as separate components of equity, net of tax. 
  LOSS CONTINGENCIES. Loss contingencies, including claims and le-
gal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as lia-
bilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of 
loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe there now 
are such matters that will have a material effect on the financial statements.
 RESTRICTIONS ON CASH - Cash on hand or on deposit with the                
Federal Reserve Bank of  $14,728,000 and  $17,293,000 was required to 
meet regulatory reserve and clearing requirements at year-end 2018 and 
2017. These balances earned $374,509  interest in 2018, and $374,612 inter-
est in 2017.  
 DIVIDEND RESTRICTION - Banking regulations require the main-
tenance of certain capital levels and may limit the amount of dividends 
paid by the Bank to the Holding Company or by the Holding Company 
to shareholders. These restrictions pose no practical limit on the abil-
ity of the Bank or Holding Company to pay dividends at historic levels. 
 RECLASSIFICATIONS - Certain reclassifications have been made to the 
2017 financial statements to be comparable to the 2018 presentation. 
 ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS - FASB 
issued ASU No. 2018-02, which addresses the disproportionate tax effect of 
items reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI). 
Under U.S. GAAP, the effect of changes in tax laws or rates is recognized 
in income tax expense in the period in which the legislation is enacted and 
the re-measurement of deferred tax items reported in AOCI is recorded 
through income tax expense, creating a disproportionate tax effect in AOCI 
as the recorded deferred tax asset or liability no longer equals the tax effect 
included in AOCI for that item.  This ASU allows for the reclassification 
of this disproportionate tax effect from AOCI to retained earnings. At De-
cember 31, 2017, the Company early adopted ASU 2018-02 and reclassified 
out of AOCI and into retained earnings $874,812 of disproportionate tax 
effects that were recorded at December 22, 2017 due to re-measuring to 
21% deferred taxes on available for sale securities and the portion of the 
accrual for the Company’s defined benefit pension plan recorded in AOCI.
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2018 Amortized Cost Fair Value 

Available-for-sale

   within one year  $        402,435  $        404,012 

   one to five years  7,660,622  7,674,011 

   five to ten years  13,991,643  13,841,032 

   beyond ten years  25,507,732  24,942,246 

   Residential mortgage backed      15,919,276       15,524,894 

                           Total  $   63,481,708  $   62,386,195 

Held to maturity

   within one year 23,368,768 23,303,915

   one to five years 30,548,997 30,289,490

   five to ten years 2,085,137 2,089,750

   beyond ten years 305,000 305,000

   Residential mortgage backed      35,243,474      34,360,863

                           Total  $   91,551,376  $   90,349,018 

Community Bancshares, Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 2 - SECURITIES
The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of the available-for-sale 
and held-to-maturity investment securities portfolios at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the 
corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated other 

The proceeds from sales or calls of securities and the associated gains and losses are 
listed below:
       2018  2017
Proceeds    100,000                        433,000     
Gross Losses      (4,759)                      

Unrealized losses on state and municipal bonds have not been recognized into income because the 
issuers’ bonds are of high credit quality (rated A or higher). 100% of mortgage-backed securities are 
issued by U.S. government sponsored entities. For all securities at an unrealized loss, management does 
not intend to sell and it is likely that management will not be required to sell the securities prior to their 
anticipated recovery, and the decline in fair value is largely due to changes in interest rates and other 
market data. The fair value is expected to recover as the securities approach their maturity date and/or 
market rates decline.

2017
Amortized                                 

Cost

 Gross                          
Unrealized                             

Gains

Gross                        
Unrealized                      

Losses
Fair                                            

Value

Available for sale

  U.S. Govt agencies $     2,990,421 $               -   $      (34,467) $      2,955,954

  State and municipal 45,735,845 468,636  (302,116) 45,902,365 

 Residential 
 mortgage 
 backed 19,494,756 111,642         (302,689)       19,303,709 

               Total $   68,221,022 $   580,278  $    (639,272)  $    68,162,028 

Amortized                                 
Cost

Gross       
Unrecognized          

Gains

Gross               
Unrecognized                      

Losses
Fair                                            

Value

Held to maturity

  U.S. Govt agencies $  40,774,001  $      1,563  $  (254,267) $  40,521,297 

  State and municipal 28,039,303 299,655  (35,264) 28,303,694 

  Corporate 253,732  -          (1,196)  252,536 

  Residential 
  mortgage 
  backed       35,785,644          3,887    (702,383)      35,087,148

               Total $ 104,852,680  $  305,105  $  (993,110)  $104,164,675 

The amortized cost and fair value of the investment securities portfolio are shown by ex-
pected maturity. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities if borrowers 
have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

 (10,170)

2018
Amortized                                   

Cost

Gross                               
Unrealized                            

Gains

Gross             
Unrealized 

Losses
 Fair                               
Value

Available for sale

U.S. Govt agencies   $     2,992,402   $                 - $       (63,409) $          2,928,993

State and municipal 44,570,030 131,026 (768,748) 43,932,308

Residential 
mortgage
backed      15,919,276            62,853        (457,235)           15,524,894

               Total $   63,481,708   $     193,879 $  (1,289,392) $        62,386,195

Amortized                                 
Cost

Gross       
Unrecognized          

Gains

Gross               
Unrecognized                      

Losses
Fair                                            

Value

Held to maturity

 U.S. Treasuries $     4,988,833  $                 -    $         (2,893)  $          4,985,940 

 U.S. Govt agencies 29,572,729 - (386,082) 29,186,647 

 State and municipal 21,746,340 109,768 (40,540) 21,815,568 

Residential 
mortgage backed       35,243,474           56,611         (939,222)            34,360,863 

              
 Total  $   91,551,376  $     166,379  $  (1,368,737)  $        90,349,018 

Securities with unrealized losses at year end 2018 and 2017 aggregated by investment category and length 
of time the individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position are as follows:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

2017
Fair                                                  

Value
Unrealized                              

Loss
Fair                                       

Value
Unrealized                              

Loss
Fair                                   

Value
Unrealized                       

Loss

Available for sale

   U.S. Govt agencies  $  2,955,954  $  (34,467)  $                 -  $                -  $  2,955,954  $     (34,467)

   State and municipal  3,304,235  (21,204)  18,024,095  (280,912)  21,328,330  (302,116)

   Residential mortgage   
   backed     7,132,395     (73,059)  8,737,390 (229,630)

       
   15,869,785      (302,689)

                           Total  $13,392,584  $(128,730) $26,761,485  $ (510,542)  $40,154,069  $(639,272)

Held to maturity

   U.S. Govt agencies  $24,898,236 $(105,809) $10,663,012 $ (148,458) $35,561,248 $   (254,267)

   State and municipal  6,558,533  (26,560)  739,246  (8,704)  7,297,779 (35,264)

   Corporates  252,536  (1,196)  -  - 252,536  (1,196)

   Residential mortgage 
   backed   11,968,799      (218,169)  22,600,965    (484,214)

                
34,569,764     (702,383)

                           Total  $43,678,104 $(351,734) $34,003,223 $ (641,376) $ 77,681,327 $(993,110)

2018 Fair                                                  
Value

Unrealized                              
Loss

Fair                                       
Value

Unrealized                              
Loss

Fair                                   
Value

Unrealized                       
Loss

Available for sale

    U.S. Govt agencies       $          - -  $   2,928,993 $     (63,409)  $   2,928,993  $     (63,409)

     State and municipal  15,425,630  (168,765)  20,968,228  (599,983)  $ 36,393,858  $   (768,748)

    Residential mortgage    
    backed      1,327,025      (34,651)      12,396,869      (422,584)     13,723,894      (457,235)

                           Total  $ 16,752,655  $ (203,416)  $ 36,294,090 $(1,085,976)  $ 53,046,745  $(1,289,392)

Held to maturity

    U. S. Treasuries  $   4,985,940  $     (2,893) $                  - $                  -  $   4,985,940  $(2,893)

    U.S. Govt agencies  -  -  29,186,647 (386,082)   29,186,647    (386,082)

    State and municipal  4,296,124  (8,814)  3,528,446  (31,726)     7,824,570      (40,540)

    Residential mortgage  
    backed         224,166        (5,349)     26,020,417      (933,873)    26,244,583    (939,222)

                           Total  $   9,506,230  $   (17,056)  $ 58,735,510  $(1,351,681)  $68,241,740  $(1,368,737)

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or more Total
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Commercial
Commercial                                        
Real Estate

Consumer                        
Real Estate Consumer Total

December 31, 2018

Allowance for loan losses:

Beginning balance $      339,720 $      967,293 $      2,867,489 $      1,456,096  $               5,630,598 

Provision for loan losses 13,107 (172,622 ) (11,811 ) 1,316,326 1,145,000

Loans charged-off  (53,160 ) - (151,580 ) (991,403 ) (1,196,143 )

Recoveries           12,892          10,143             43,940            256,587                   323,562 

Total ending allowance balance $      312,559 $      804,814 $     2,748,038 $      2,037,606 $              5,903,017

Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017

The carrying value of securities pledged to secure public deposits and for other purposes at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is $94,844,980 and $96,908,025.

At year end 2018 and 2017, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the U. S. Government and its agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of 
shareholders’ equity. 
NOTE 3- LOANS
Loans at year end were as follows:

Loans to directors, executive officers and their related interests totaled $4,756,371  at December 31, 2018 and  $1,759,584  at December 31, 2017

The following table presents the activity in the allowance for loan losses by portfolio segment for the period ending December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

         2018      2017

                     Commercial $      45,981,047 $      42,207,316
                     Commercial real estate:

                         Owner occupied 57,840,084 61,151,877
                         Non-owner occupied 30,728,411 31,242,501
                         Other 28,425,896 23,640,717
                     Consumer real estate:

                         1-4 family 345,240,837 347,485,435
                         Home equity 39,804,960 39,926,119

                     Consumer:

                          Auto 105,352,906 62,426,301
                         Other         61,686,355          59,339,441
                                Subtotal 715,060,496 667,419,707
                                Net deferred loan origination costs 2,871,743 1,674,697
                                Allowance for loan losses          (5,903,017 )          (5,630,598 )

                     Loans, net $    712,029,222 $    663,463,806

Commercial
Commercial                                        
Real Estate

Consumer                        
Real Estate Consumer Total

December 31, 2017

Allowance for loan losses:

Beginning balance $      188,037 $      925,138 $      3,125,567 $      1,291,720  $               5,530,462 

Provision for loan losses 184,925 (26,086 ) (90,068 ) 725,229 794,000 

Loans charged-off  (55,144 ) (75,739 ) (242,191 ) (732,391 ) (1,105,465 )

Recoveries           21,902         143,980             74,181            171,538                    411,601 

Total ending allowance balance $      339,720 $      967,293 $     2,867,489 $      1,456,096 $              5,630,598
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Community Bancshares, Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017
The following table presents the balance in the allowance for loan losses and the recorded investment in loans by portfolio segment and based on impairment method as of  December 31, 2018 and 2017

Commercial
Commercial                      
Real Estate

Consumer                       
Real Estate Consumer Total

Ending allowance balance attributable to loans:

        Individually evaluated for impairment  $       $173,419   $          176,374  $             483,650  $              13,612  $            847,055 

       Collectively evaluated for impairment             139,140            628,440             2,264,388 2,023,994            5,055,962 

              Total ending allowance balance $         312,559  $          804,814 $          2,748,038  $         2,037,606  $         5,903,017 

Loans:

       Loans individually evaluated for impairment  $         631,566  $       3,115,604  $          4,073,237  $              63,185  $         7,883,592 

       Loans collectively evaluated for impairment       46,282,991      114,179,759         380,783,773         170,818,683         712,065,206 

              Total ending loans balance $    46,914,557 $   117,295,363 $      384,857,010  $     170,881,868  $     719,948,798 

 December 31, 2018
 Allowance for loan losses:

Commercial
Commercial                      
Real Estate

Consumer                       
Real Estate Consumer Total

Ending allowance balance attributable to loans:

        Individually evaluated for impairment  $         211,576  $          387,955  $             673,931  $              19,537  $         1,292,999 

       Collectively evaluated for impairment            128,144            579,338             2,193,558             1,436,559            4,337,599 

              Total ending allowance balance $        339,720  $          967,293  $          2,867,489  $         1,456,096  $         5,630,598 

Loans:

       Loans individually evaluated for impairment  $         307,761  $       3,959,228  $          5,189,458  $              79,986  $         9,536,433 

       Loans collectively evaluated for impairment        42,171,767      112,396,301         382,723,789        124,169,092        661,460,949 

              Total ending loans balance $    42,479,528  $   116,355,529 $      387,913,247 $     124,249,078 $     670,997,382 

 December 31, 2017
 Allowance for loan losses:

December 31, 2018
With no related allowance recorded:

Unpaid                            
Principal                        
Balance

Recorded                   
Investment

Allowances for            
Loan Losses            

Allocated

Average                      
Recorded                          

Investment

Interest                          
Income 

Recognized

Cash Basis                                    
Interest                  

Recognized

       Commercial $         205,630 $         207,057          $                  -         $          254,181 $         9,921 $         8,197

       Commercial real estate

            Owner occupied 1,046,754 1,048,527  - 1,363,997 55,429 55,258

            Non-owner occupied 61,825 61,825  - 56,796 220 0

            Other 216,636 216,678  - 199,337  $2,630  $784 

      Consumer real estate

            1-4 family 1,067,162 1,067,164  - 1,667,059 44,254 36,903

            Home Equity 59,339 59,370  - 49,058 22 22

      Consumer

             Auto                    -                     -               -            4,622  256  119 

             Other          13,278           13,298               -          15,454      1,290      1,251 

             Subtotal     2,670,624      2,673,919               -     3,610,504  114,022  102,534 

With an allowance recorded:

       Commercial 424,323 424,509 173,419 300,015 9,679 8,233

       Commercial real estate

            Owner occupied 1,462,664 1,465,274 146,565 1,535,670 72,540 71,914

            Non-owner occupied 172,191 172,262 20,748 174,093 3,752 3,727

            Other 150,566 151,038 9,061 159,406 1,913 1,763

       Consumer real estate

            1-4 family 2,843,867 2,849,571 473,253 2,848,913 122,926 121,150

            Home Equity 96,915 97,132 10,397 101,732 3,254 3,205

       Consumer

            Auto - - - - - -

            Other              49,416              49,887           13,612                52,513            1,490             1,490

            Subtotal         5,199,942         5,209,673         847,055           5,172,342        215,554         211,482 

                        Total  $     7,870,566  $     7,883,592  $     847,055  $       8,782,846  $     329,576   $    314,016 
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December 31, 2017
With no related allowance recorded:

       Commercial     $                   - $                    -        $                     -           $        45,765        $           2,582             $            2,424

       Commercial real estate

            Owner occupied 1,500,001 1,500,085 - 1,986,056 38,325 37,767

            Non-owner occupied - - - 8,564 - -

            Other 146,336 146,336 - 408,813  3,480  3,480 

      Consumer real estate -

            1-4 family 1,092,832 1,093,894 - 1,420,559 27,393 26,426

            Home Equity 5,493 5,531 - 32,849 1,142 1,142

      Consumer

             Auto                       -                      -                        -              3,170                  52                     52 

             Other                       -                      -                        -                      -                     -                        - 

             Subtotal        2,744,662      2,745,846                        -       3,905,776           72,974              71,291 

With an allowance recorded:  -  -  - 

       Commercial 306,126 307,761 211,576 269,942 3,641 3,154

       Commercial real estate

            Owner occupied 1,928,419 1,930,541 328,848 1,717,935 84,014 83,387

            Non-owner occupied 203,311 203,355 38,089 239,950 1,775 1,775

            Other 177,672 178,911 21,018 188,488 9,710 9,391

       Consumer real estate

            1-4 family 3,980,369 3,984,525 660,859 3,312,744 139,711 138,594

            Home Equity 105,339 105,508 13,072 110,936 3,394 3,348

       Consumer

            Auto 8,033 8,076 2,375 9,222 546 520

            Other             71,347             71,910              17,162            62,086             3,170                3,193

            Subtotal       6,780,616        6,790,587         1,292,999       5,911,303         245,961            243,362 

                        Total  $    9,525,278 $     9,536,433 $      1,292,999  $   9,817,079 $      318,935 $         314,653 

Cash Basis                                    
Interest                  

Recognized

Interest                          
Income 

Recognized

Average                      
Recorded                          

Investment
Allowance for            
Loan Losses            

Allocated
Recorded                  

 Investment
Unpaid                            

Principal                         
Balance

Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017
NOTE 3 - LOANS (Continued) 

The following tables present the recorded investment in nonaccrual and loans past due over 90 days still on accrual by class of loans as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Commercial  $        447,388   $                        -

Commercial Real Estate  

     Owner occupied 584,094
                                              

112,179

     Non-owner occupied  192,255  - 

     Other  87,901                                   -

Consumer real estate

     1-4 family 1,036,561 656,232 

     Home equity 95,528 - 

Consumer

     Auto  - 47,880 

     Other             19,987               21,165 

          Total  $     2,463,714 $          837,456 

Loans Past Due 
Over 90 Days Or More

 Still Accruing                       
2018

Nonaccrual                                       
2018

Commercial  $        190,999   $            64,044

Commercial Real Estate

     Owner occupied 1,223,504 
                                              

-

     Non-owner occupied  170,604  - 

     Other  146,336                                   -

Consumer real estate

     1-4 family  1,831,465 322,410 

     Home equity  42,528 200,356 

Consumer

     Auto  - 49,101 

     Other              21,912               126,220 

          Total  $     3,627,348 $          762,131 

Loans Past Due 
Over 90 Days Or More

 Still Accruing                       
2018

Nonaccrual                                       
2017



Troubled Debt Restructurings: 

     As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 the Company has a recorded investment in troubled debt restructuring of $5,679,771 and $6,330,276 respectively. The Company 
has  allocated $598,893 and $793,181 of specific reserves to customers whose loan terms have been modified in troubled debt restructurings as of December 31, 2018 and 
2017. The Company has not committed to lend additional amounts as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 to customers with outstanding loans that are classified as troubled 
debt restructurings.         
     During the periods ending December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 respectively, the terms of certain loans were modified as troubled debt restructurings. The                       
modification of the terms of such loans included one or a combination of the following: a reduction of the stated interest rate of the loan; or an extension of the maturity 
date at a stated rate of interest lower than the current market rate for new debt with similar risk.       
     There were no modifications involving a reduction of the stated interest rate in 2018. Modifications involving a reduction of the stated interest rate of the loan were 
for the interest rate of 3.00% in 2017. Modifications involving an extension of the maturity date were for periods ranging from 36 months to 240 months in 2018 and 8 
months to 162 months in 2017. 
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Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017
NOTE 3 - LOANS (Continued) 
The following tables present the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 by class of loans:

Total

31-60                              
Days                            

Past Due

61-90                   
Days                      

Past Due

Greater than
90 Days              
Past Due

Total                                   
Past Due  

Loans                      
Not                         

Past Due

December 31, 2017

Commercial  $      42,479,528 $           198,969  $        360,932  $         255,043 $       814,944 $       41,664,584

Commercial Real Estate:

     Owner Occupied 61,284,911 307,737 - 970,851 1,278,588 60,006,323

     Non-owner occupied 31,319,852 90,318 42,216 - 132,534 31,187,318

     Other 23,750,766 20,312 - - 20,312 23,730,454

Consumer Real Estate

     1-4 family 347,849,497 1,331,090 429,955 1,830,784 3,591,829 344,257,668

     Home equity 40,063,750 108,410 71,927 200,356 380,693 39,683,057

Consumer:

     Auto 63,752,699 351,589 28,421 108,101 488,111 63,264,588

     Other           60,496,379              348,578             71,932               67,220           487,730          60,008,649

     Total  $    670,997,382 $        2,757,003 $    1,005,383   $      3,432,355  $    7,194,741 $     663,802,641  

Total

31-60                     
Days                            

Past Due

61-90                 
Days                      

Past Due

Greater than
90 Days              
Past Due

Total                                   
Past Due  

Loans                       
Not                         

Past Due

December 31, 2018

Commercial  $       46,914,557 $        181,862  $        122,716  $          356,877 $       661,455 $      46,253,102

Commercial Real Estate:

     Owner Occupied 57,956,750 9,851 - 525,651 $535,502         57,421,248

     Non-owner occupied 30,801,372 264,130 - 40,832 $304,962         30,496,410

     Other 28,537,241 529,899 - 82,771 $612,670         27,924,571

Consumer Real Estate

     1-4 family 345,541,016 2,021,223 903,098 1,505,665    4,429,986       341,111,030

     Home equity 39,315,994 35,305 - 95,528 $130,833          39,185,161

Consumer:

     Auto 108,087,922 404,512 188,111 47,880 $640,503       107,447,419

     Other          62,793,946              323,681            140,953               37,267         501,901        62,292,045

     Total  $    719,948,798 $        3,770,463  $     1,354,878  $       2,692,471 $    7,817,812 $    712,130,986



Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017
NOTE 3 - LOANS (Continued) 
The following tables present loans by class modified as troubled debt restructurings that occured during the period ending December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

The troubled debt restructurings described above resulted in an increase to the allowance for loan losses of $31,767 in 2018 and $178,993 in 2017.

December 31, 2017
# of 

Loans

Pre-Modification 
Outstanding 

Recorded 
Investment

Post-Modification 
Outstanding 

Recorded  
Investment

Troubled Debt Restructurings:

      Commercial        $                             $ 

      Commercial real estate:

            Owner occupied 2  386,873   386,873 

            Non-owner occupied

            Other

      Consumer Real Estate:

            1-4 family 4 354,391 354,391

            Home equity                        -                               - 

      Consumer:

            Auto - -

            Other  1              21,913              21,913 

          Total  7  $        763,177  $        763,177 

There were no loans modified as troubled debt restructurings for which there was a payment default within twelve months following the modification during the period 
ending December 31, 2018 and one such loan with recorded investment of $249,857 defaulted in 2017. The troubled debt restructurings that subsequently defaulted 
resulted in an increase to the allowance for loan losses of $123,119 for the year ended December 31, 2017. A loan is considered to be in payment default once it is 90 days 
contractually past due under the modified terms. 
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December 31, 2018
# of 

Loans

Pre-Modification 
Outstanding 

Recorded 
Investment

Post-Modification 
Outstanding 

Recorded  
Investment

Troubled Debt Restructurings:

      Commercial 3  $    194,557  $    194,557 

      Commercial real estate:

            Owner occupied

            Non-owner occupied

            Other

      Consumer Real Estate:

            1-4 family 2  108,153  108,153 

            Home equity

      Consumer:

            Auto

            Other

          Total 5  $    302,710  $    302,710 



Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017
NOTE 3 - LOANS (Continued) 
Credit Quality Indicators:            
The Corporation categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to service their debt such as: current 
financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among other factors. The Cor-
poration analyzes loan relationships individually by classifying the loans as to credit risk. This analysis includes loan relationships with an outstanding balance 
greater than $250,000 and non-homogeneous loans, such as commercial and commercial real estate loans. This analysis is performed on an annual basis. The 
Corporation uses the following definitions for risk ratings:         

Special Mention. Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves management’s close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential 
weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of the institution’s credit position at some future date.   
         
Substandard. Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or of the collateral 
pledged, if any. Loans so classified have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. They are characterized by the distinct 
possibility that the institution will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.       
    
Doubtful. Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, with the added characteristic that the weaknesses 
make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable.   
         
Loans not meeting the criteria above that are analyzed individually as part of the above described process are considered to be pass rated loans. Loans listed as 
not rated are less than $250,000. 

Based on the most recent analysis performed, the risk category of loans by class of loans for December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:  
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The Company considers the performance of the loan portfolio and its impact on the allowance for loan losses. For residential and consumer loan classes, the Company 
also evaluates credit quality based on the aging status of the loan, which was previously presented, and by payment activity. The following table presents the recorded 
investment in residential and consumer loans based on payment activity:

December 31, 2017
Not                                          

Rated Pass
Special                              

Mention Substandard Doubtful

Commercial  $        23,789  $      36,214,217  $       3,249,205  $       2,992,317  $                -   

Commercial real estate

     Owner occupied  -  45,366,482  7,520,717  8,397,712 - 

     Non-owner occupied  15,192  27,612,327  2,924,381  767,952 - 

     Other       1,589,111         20,816,294           1,020,114           325,247                  - 

          Total  $   1,628,092  $    130,009,320  $      14,714,417  $     12,483,228 $                - 

   Consumer Real Estate    Consumer
1-4                      

Family
Home                      
Equity Auto Other

December 31, 2017

     Performing $   345,695,622 $  39,964,866 $   63,703,598 $   60,407,247 

     Nonperforming          2,153,875            98,884             49,101             89,132

          Total $   347,849,497 $  40,063,750 $   63,752,699 $   60,496,379

December 31, 2018
Not                                          

Rated Pass
Special                              

Mention Substandard Doubtful

Commercial  $        29,380  $     44,019,062  $         625,800  $        2,240,315 $                 - 

Commercial real estate    

     Owner occupied  2,016  47,213,267  2,961,321  7,780,146  - 

     Non-owner occupied  12,792  28,222,004  912,146  1,654,430  - 

     Other  87,857  24,975,530  1,597,754  1,876,100                    - 

          Total  $      132,045  $   144,429,863  $      6,097,021  $     13,550,991  $                 - 

1-4 
Family

Home 
Equity Auto Other

December 31, 2018

     Performing $  343,848,223 $  39,220,466 $ 108,040,042 $   62,752,794

     Nonperforming         1,692,793          95,528              47,880             41,152

            Total $  345,541,016 $  39,315,994 $ 108,087,922 $   62,793,946

   Consumer Real Estate    Consumer
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Community Bancshares, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 4- PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT                                                                                      

Year-end premises and equipment were as follows:

Rent expense under operating leases included in occupancy expense was $92,641 and 
$55,836 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 respectively. Future lease 
commitments are not material. 

NOTE 5 - GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS                                    
 
GOODWILL - The Corporation has recorded goodwill of $6,838,285 as of December 31, 
2018 and 2017. No impairment of goodwill occurred in 2018 or 2017. 
 
Impairment exists when a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value. At Decem-
ber 31, 2018, the Corporation’s reporting unit had positive equity and the Corporation 
elected to perform a qualitative assessment to determine if it was more likely than not that 
the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, including goodwill. The 
qualitative assessment indicated that it was more likely than not that the fair value of the 
reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, resulting in no impairment. 
  
INTANGIBLE ASSETS - The change in balance for intangible assets during the year is as 
follows: 

The total amount of  intangible assets were as follows at year end 2018 and 2017 
respectively:

Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years and thereafter is:  

NOTE 6 - TIME DEPOSITS    

Certificates of deposit that exceeded the FDIC insurance limit of $250,000 totaled 
$42,994,507 at December 31, 2018 and $26,249,603 at December 31, 2017. 

Scheduled maturities of time deposits  were as follows:

Deposits from principal officers, directors, and their affiliates at year-end 2018 and 
2017 respectively were $5,687,666,and $5,062,706.  

NOTE 7 - REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
Repurchase agreements are secured financing agreements. The Company pledges 
investment securities to secure these borrowings. Information concerning repurchase 
agreements is summarized as follows:

NOTE 8 - FHLB ADVANCES AND OTHER BORROWINGS

At year-end, advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank were as follows:

                                2018      2017
                                        
                                                          -                                          $25,000,000  

The advances were collateralized by the Corporation’s FHLB stock and qualifying 
mortgage loans. 

VCNB has a $25.0 million overnight funds borrowing capacity with other financial 
institutions. No overnight borrowings were outstanding on these facilities at 
December 31, 2018 or 2017. 

2019 $     174,589

2020 174,589

2021 174,589

2022 174,589

2023 174,589

          Thereafter        160,042

$    1,032,987

2019 $      129,011,654  

2020  108,729,467 

2021  56,881,337  

2022  9,026,286  

2023 2,614,381

Thereafter                  50,633  

$      306,313,758  

Fixed rate advances due in 2018 at 
a fixed rate of 1.43%

2018 2017

Intangible assets                                           
at beginning of year  $   1,249,313  $    1,566,202 

Amortization expense       (216,326)  (316,889)

Intangible assets                                             
at end of year  $   1,032,987  $1,249,313 

2018
Gross Carrying 

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Core deposit intangibles $   1,961,700 $    (950,481)  

Other customer relationship 
intangible           42,228 (20,460)  

Total $   2,003,928 $    (970,941)  

2017
Gross Carrying 

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Core deposit intangibles $   3,404,700  $ (2,182,023)

Other customer relationship 
intangible          87,170          (60,534)

Total $   3,491,870 $ (2,242,557)

2018 2017

Balance at end of year $     2,016,055 $      1,400,429

Average balance for year 1,440,161 1,350,524

Average interest rate 0.39% 0.20%

Maximum month-end balance $     2,016,055 $      1,714,946

2018 2017

Carrying value of pledged securities $     2,062,372 $      2,075,060

All agreements are overnight and continuous. The agreements are backed by U.S. 
Government agency securities. 

2018 2017

Land, buildings and improvements $         17,614,756              $   16,808,395 

Equipment, furniture and fixtures 12,076,643                   10,743,513

Construction in progress                  807,096                        - 

     Total premises and equipment 30,498,495                   27,551,908 

Less: Accumulated depreciation and 
amortization           (16,320,373    (15,169,714

Premises and equipment, net  $         14,178,122               $   12,382,194 

) )
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NOTE 9 - INCOME TAXES                                                                               
 

The Corporation has a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan. Employees 
hired before January 1, 2009 became participants after age 21 with 1,000 hours of 
service or upon the entry date following attainment of age 35. Employees hired on or 
after January 1, 2009 are not eligible for the plan. The Corporation’s funding policy 
is to contribute annually an amount that can be deducted for federal income tax 
purposes.
    
Information about the pension plan was as follows:

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan was 
$16,529,983 and $16,530,889 at year-end 2018 and 2017, respectively. Amounts 
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income loss before federal income 
taxes at December 31, 2018 and 2017 consist of a net unrealized actuarial loss of 
$7,906,604 and $5,724,941, respectively. The estimated net loss for the defined benefit 
pension plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income 
into pension expense over the next fiscal year is $522,527.  

Assumptions

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine pension benefit obligation:

2018 2017

Discount rate 4.00% 4.00%

Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension expense:

2018 2017

Discount rate 4.00% 4.30%

Expected return on plan assets 7.50% 7.50%

Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50%

The expectation for long-term rate of return on the pension assets and the expected 
rate of compensation increases are reviewed periodically by management in consul-
tation with outside actuaries and primary investment consultants. Factors considered 
in setting and adjusting these rates are historic and projected rates of return on the 
portfolio and historic and estimated rates of increases of compensation.

Effective tax rates differ from federal statutory rates applied to financial statement income 
due to the following:

The effective tax rate is 16.9% for 2018 and 38.6% for 2017.

Year end gross deferred tax assets and gross deferred tax liabilities were due to the 
following:

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Corporation had no unrecognized tax benefits recorded. The 
Corporation does not expect the amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly change within 
the next twelve months. There were no penalties or interest recorded in the income statement for 
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 and no amounts accrued for penalties or interest as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017.
The Corporation and its subsidiaries are subject to U. S. federal income tax. The Corporation is no 
longer subject to examination by taxing authorities for years before 2015.

Income tax expense was as follows: 2018 2017

Current $1,644,603 $   2,586,436

Impact of federal tax law changes -      1,171,565

Deferred           82,928        417,068

          Income tax expense $   1,727,531 $   4,175,069

2018 2017

Income tax expense at the statutory                                  

     federal tax rate of 21% and 34% for 
     2018 and 2017 $   2,150,247 $   3,676,514

     Tax exempt interest, less related

     non-deductible interest expense (404,838 ) (642,933 )

     Bank owned life insurance (26,746 ) (43,867 )

     Revaluation of deferred assets due to federal      
     tax law change - 1,171,565

     Other items            8,868          13,790

               Income tax expense $  1,727,531   $   4,175,069

NOTE 10 - BENEFIT PLANS                                                                         

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets:

     Allowance for loan losses $  1,239,634 $   1,182,426

     Deferred loan fees 114,769 103,838

     Nonaccrual loan interest 148,895 141,170

     Deferred compensation 147,115 166,146

     Accrued pension 555,531 413,234

     Unrealized loss on available for sale securities 230,058 12,389

     Depreciation and amortization 130,760 45,080

     Deferred revenue 87,452 106,193

     Net operating loss carry forwards - 52,854

     Other         124,144       78,115

          Gross deferred tax assets 2,778,358 2,301,445

Deferred tax liabilities:

     Purchase accounting adjustments (238,295 ) (354,273 )

     FHLB stock dividends      (253,176 )      (253,176 )

          Gross deferred tax liabilities      (491,471 )      (607,449 )

Net deferred tax assets $  2,286,887 $  1,693,996

2018 2017

Projected benefit obligation $   (20,288,265 ) $  (18,854,954 )

Fair value of plan assets       17,642,879      16,887,177

Funded status $     (2,645,386 ) $    (1,967,777 )

Pension expense $         495,946 $         770,024

Employer contribution 2,000,000 2,050,000

Benefits paid 984,155 722,578

On December 22, 2017, H.R.1, commonly known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) 
was signed into law. Among other things, the Act reduced the Corporation’s federal in-
come tax rate from 34% to 21%, effective January 1, 2018. As a result of this rate reduction, 
the Corporation was required to re-measure, through income tax expenses, the deferred 
tax assets and liabilities using the enacted rate at which they are expected to be recovered 
or settled. The re-measurement of the net deferred tax asset resulted in additional 2017 
income tax expense of $1,171,565.
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NOTE 10 - BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Plan Assets
The Corporation’s pension plan asset allocation at year-end 2017 and 2016, target 
allocation for 2017 and expected long-term rate of return by asset category are as follows:

Percentage of 
Plan Assets

Asset Category

Target 
Allocation 

2018 2018 2017

Weighted 
Avg. Expected 

Long-Term 
Rate of Return

Equity securities       40-60%   44.8%  54.0% 9.0%

Debt securities       30-60 44.6  41.8                   6.0

Other         0-20          10.6    4.2                   3.5

Total  100%   100%  7.50%

The Corporation developed the pension plan investment policies and strategies for plan 
assets with its pension management firm. The target allocations from above were created 
to maximize the return on portfolio assets while reducing the risk of the portfolio. Using 
a combination of equity and debt securities, money market funds, and other funds, such 
as mutual funds, the Corporation believes the plan has followed the policy and strategy of 
plan assets. The management firm may allocate assets among the separate accounts with 
the established target allocations. Transfers among these accounts will be at the manage-
ment firm’s discretion based on their investment outlook and the investment strategies 
that are outlined at periodic meetings with the Corporation. 
 
Fair Value of Plan Assets    
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset in the principal 
or most advantageous market for the asset in an orderly transaction between market 
participants on the measurement date. The Corporation used the following methods and 
significant assumptions to estimate the fair value of each type of financial instrument: 
        
   
Equity, Debt, Investment Funds and Other Securities   
The fair values for investment securities are determined by quoted market prices, if 
available (Level 1). For securities where quoted prices are not available, fair values are cal-
culated based on market prices of similar securities (Level 2). For securities where quoted 
prices or market prices of similar securities are not available, fair values are calculated 
using discounted cash flows or other market indicators (Level 3). Discounted cash flows 
are calculated using spread to swap and LIBOR curves that are updated to incorporate 
loss severities, volatility, credit spread, and optionality. During times when trading is 
more liquid, broker quotes are used (if available) to validate the model. Rating agency and 
industry research reports, as well as defaults and deferrals on individual securities, are 
reviewed and incorporated into the calculations.    
   
The fair value of the plan assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017 by asset categories, is as 
follows: 

         Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2018 Using:

Contributions  
The corporation expects to contribute $1,500,000 to its pension plan in 2019.  
       
Estimated Future Pension Payments       
Estimated future pension benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are:

401K Profit Sharing Plan:
The Corporation provides a 401(k) profit sharing plan. Employees hired before January 
1, 2009 may contribute between 2% and 15% of their compensation. The Corporation 
will match employee contributions at the rate of 15% on the first 6% of participant 
deferrals for a total match of .9% of employee compensation provided the Corporation 
attains a return on equity for the year of 10%. If the Corporation’s return on equity is 
below 10%, the match will be reduced to 8% on the first 6% of participant deferrals for a 
total match of .48% of employee compensation. For employees hired on or after January 
1, 2009, the Corporation will match employee contributions at the rate of 50% on the 
first 6% of the participant deferrals for a total match of 3% of employee compensation. 
Employee contributions are fully vested and employer contributions fully vest after six 
years. $107,892 and $86,685 were recognized as expense in 2018 and 2017. 

  2019                    $       414,905    
  2020           470,111   
  2021          531,223
  2022         687,308   
  2023         746,010
  2024-2028      4,009,818

Equity securities consist of $6,599,726 of domestic common stocks, $888,417 of  
foreign stocks, and $424,606 of mutual funds. Debt securities consist of $4,111,203 of  
U.S. government issues and $2,980,247 of corporate issues and $776,780 of municipal 
issues. Other consists of cash and cash equivalents. 

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2017 Using:

Supplemental Retirement Plan:
The Corporation assumed a nonqualified supplemental retirement plan through acquisition of 
Citizens.  The plan was for a former retired President who satisfied the related service compo-
nent upon separation in 2012.  According to the plan, the beneficiary will receive 180 monthly 
payments of $4,513, of which 100 remain at December 31, 2018.  The plan is unfunded and the 
associated accrual included in other liabilities was $397,252 and $420,610 for the years ended 
2018 and 2017 respectively.

Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan:
The Corporation also assumed a deferred compensation plan through acquisition of Citizens.  
The plan was suspended prior to the acquisition date.  The plan is funded through a trust 
account on the Corporation’s balance sheet.  Distributions will be paid over a total of 10 annual 
payments which began in 2014.  Upon change in control, participants elected whether to take 
a lump sum cash distribution or to receive payments in ten annual installments, which began 
in 2014.  Three participants elected to receive payments.  The liability for the remaining partic-
ipants in the plan was $82,220 and $110,368 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
respectively and is included in other liabilities.  The balance in the trust account included in 
other assets also is $82,220 and $110,368 at December 31, 2018 and 2017 respectively. 

Directors’ Defined Contribution Plan:
The Corporation also assumed a defined contribution plan through the acquisition of Citizens 
whereby discretionary contributions were made into the plan on behalf of the directors.  The 
plan was suspended prior to the acquisition date.  The funds of the obligation are held in a 
restricted savings account at VCNB.  Upon change in control, participants elected whether 
to take a lump sum cash distribution or to receive their payments in ten annual installments, 
which began in 2014.  Eight participants elected to receive payments.  The liability for the 
remaining participants in the plan was $221,077 and $260,192 for the years ended December 
31, 2018 and 2017 respectively and is included in other liabilities.

Plan Assets
Carrying 

Value

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs                
(Level 3)

Equity

   Securities  $ 9,120,826  $  9,120,826 
                       

$                - $                       - 

Debt                 

   Securities 7,052,463 - 7,052,463                     -

Other        713,888          713,888                    -                           -

  Total plan     
     assets $16,887,177  $  9,834,714 $ 7,052,463  $                       - 

 

Plan Assets
Carrying 

Value

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs                
(Level 3)

Equity

   Securities  $7,912,749  $   7,912,749 
                       

$                - $                       - 

Debt                 

   Securities 7,868,231               - 7,868,231                     -

Other   1,861,899       1,861,899                      -                           -

  Total plan     
     assets $17,642,879  $   9,774,648  $ 7,868,231  $                       - 

Equity securities consist of $8,280,582 of domestic common stocks, $581,382 of  foreign 
stocks, and $258,862 of mutual funds. Debt securities consist of $ 4,367,532,of  U.S. 
government issues, $2,322,948, of corporate issues, and $361,983 of municipal issues. 
Other consists of cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTE 11 - LOAN COMMITMENTS AND OTHER 
RELATED ACTIVITIES
Some financial instruments, such as loan commitments, credit lines, letters of credit, and 
overdraft protection, are issued to meet customer financing needs. These are agreements 
to provide credit or to support the credit of others, as long as conditions established in the 
contract are met, and usually have expiration dates. Commitments may expire without 
being used. Off-balance-sheet risk to credit loss exists up to the face amount of these 
instruments, although material losses are not anticipated. The same credit policies are used 
to make such commitments as are used for loans, including obtaining collateral at exercise 
of the commitment.  
A summary of the notional or contractual amounts of financial instruments with off-bal-
ance-sheet risk at year end follows: 

Fixed rate commitments had interest rates ranging from 3.25% to 21.00% at December 
31, 2018 and 3.25% to 21.00% at December 31, 2017. The interest rates on variable rate 
commitments ranged from 3.49% to 18.00% at December 31, 2018 and 2.99% to 18.00% at 
December 31, 2017. 

NOTE 12 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
  
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability (exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. There are 
three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values:

     LEVEL 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets 
that the entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date.     
     LEVEL 2:  Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted 
prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.     
     LEVEL 3:  Significant, unobservable inputs that reflect a Corporation’s own assump-
tions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or 
liability. 
     The following is a description of the Corporation’s valuation methodologies used to 
measure and disclose the fair values of its financial assets and liabilities on a recurring or 
nonrecurring basis:

     Securities Available-For-Sale: Securities classified as available-for-sale are reported at 
fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs. For these securities, the Corporation obtains fair value 
measurements using pricing models that vary based on asset class and include available 
trade, bid and other market information. Fair value of securities available-for-sale may 
also be determined by matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technique used widely in 
the industry to value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the 
specific securities, but rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark 
quoted securities.    
     Impaired Loans: The fair value of impaired loans with specific allocations of the allow-
ance for loan losses is generally based on real estate appraisals and discounted for selling 
costs, taxes due and market conditions. If the appraisal is outdated, the property will be 
inspected to the extent possible and county tax values researched. Such adjustments are 
usually significant and typically result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determin-
ing fair value.     
     Real Estate Owned: Assets acquired through or instead of loan foreclosure are recorded 
at fair value less costs to sell when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. Fair value is 
commonly based on recent real estate appraisals or broker opinion, depending on the 
type of property. Such adjustments are usually significant and typically result in a Level 3 
classification of the inputs for determining fair value. The value of real estate owned prop-
erties are reevaluated periodically and adjusted for additional impairment as additional 
information becomes apparent.     
     Appraisals for both collateral-dependent impaired loans and real estate owned are per-
formed by certified general appraisers (for commercial properties) or certified residential 
appraisers or brokers (for residential properties) whose qualifications have been reviewed 
and verified by the Corporation. Once received, a member of Loan Management reviews 
the assumptions and approaches utilized in the appraisal as well as the overall resulting fair 
value. On an annual basis, the Corporation compares the actual selling price of collateral 
that has been sold to the most recent appraised value to determine what additional adjust-
ment should be made to the appraisal value to arrive at fair value. The most recent analysis 
performed indicated that a discount of 30% should be applied to properties. 
 

Impaired loans measured for impairment using the fair value of the collateral for collateral dependent 
loans were immaterial at December 31,2018. At December 31, 2017, impaired loans had a recorded 
investment of $1,428,677 with a valuation allowance of $259,399, resulting in an increase in provision 
for loan losses of $259,399 for the year ending December 31, 2017.   

Fair Value Measurements Using:

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis are summarized 
below:

       Fair Value Measurements Using:

December 31,2018
Carrying               

Value

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable  

Inputs                   
(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs                   
(Level 3)

Financial assets:

U.S. Gov. 
   agencies $   2,928,993 $                   - $   2,928,993   $                   -

States and
   municipal

 
43,932,308 - 43,932,308 -

Residential 
   mortgage backed
   securities and other 15,524,894 _________- 15,524,894 _________-

Total 
   Investment 
   securities 
   available
   for sale $ 62,386,195 $                   - $ 62,386,195 $                   -

December 31, 2017
Carrying 

Value

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable               

Inputs                   
(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs                  
 (Level 3)

Commercial RE

    Owner Occupied $  389,205     $                              -  $                              - $               389,205

Consumer R E

     1-4 Family $   970,504 $                            - $                            - $               970,504

Impaired Loans $1,359,709 $                            - $                            - $            1,359,709

2018 2017

          Unused open end lines of credit  $     62,041,923  $     54,253,263 

          Ready Reserve 662,986 675,226

          Credit card arrangements 22,522,672 19,922,873

          Letters of credit $       1,589,023 $          660,391
Fair Value Measurements Using:

December 31,2017
Carrying               

Value

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable  

Inputs                   
(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs                   
(Level 3)

Financial assets:

U.S. Gov. 
   agencies $   2,955,954 $                   - $     2,955,954   $                   -

States and
   municipal

 
45,902,365 - 45,902,365 -

Residential 
   mortgage backed
   securities and other   19,303,709 _________-   19,303,709 _________-

Total 
   Investment 
   securities 
   available
   for sale $ 68,162,028 $                   - $ 68,162,028 $                   -
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NOTE 13 - ACCUMULATED OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

   The following is a summary of the accumulated other comprehensive income 
balances, net of tax:

December 31, 2018

Balance at 
December 31, 

2017

Current         
    Year                       
Change

Balance at 
December 31, 

2018

Unrealized gains (losses) on           
   securities available for sale $      (46,606 ) $     (818,850 ) $  (865,456)

Unrealized loss on pension 
   benefits    (4,522,703 ) (1,723,514 )    (6,246,217 )

        Total    $ (4,569,309 ) $  2,542,364 $ (7,111,673  )

December 31, 2017

Balance at 
December 31, 

2016

Current         
    Year                       
Change

Reclassification of 
Disproportionate 

Tax Effects

Balance at 
December 31, 

2017

Unrealized gains (losses) on    
   securities available for sale $     (927,600 ) $       888,664 $        (7,670) $        (46,606)

Unrealized loss on pension 
   benefits       (4,402,418 )          746,857 (867,142)     (4,522,703)

        Total    $  (5,330,018 ) $    1,635,521 $  (874,812) $  (4,569,309)
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NOTE 14- REGULATORY MATTERS
     Banks are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies. Capital adequacy 
guidelines, and additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regulations involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items calculated under 
regulatory accounting practices. Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators. Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory 
action. Management believes, as of December 31, 2018, the Corporation and Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject.
     
     The prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications, including well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically 
undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to represent overall financial condition. If adequately capitalized, regulatory approval is required to accept brokered deposits. If 
undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset growth and expansion, and plans for capital restoration are required. The final rules implementing Basel Committee on Bank-
ing Supervision’s capital guidelines for U.S. banks (Basel III rules) became effective for the Company on January 1, 2015 with full compliance with all of the requirements being phased in over 
a multi-year schedule, and fully phased in by January 1, 2019. Under Basel III rules, the company must hold a capital conservation buffer above the adequately capitalized risk-based capital 
ratios. The capital conservation buffer for 2018 is 1.875% and for 2017 was 1.25%. The net unrealized gain or loss on available for sale securities is not included in computing regulatory capital. 
       
     At December 31, 2018 and 2017 actual capital levels and minimum required levels with dollars in millions were:

     At year-end 2018 and 2017, the most recent regulatory notifications categorized the Bank, as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. No 
conditions or events have occurred subsequent to the last regulatory notification that management believes have changed the Bank’s category. 

     Banking regulations limit capital distributions by banks. Generally, capital distributions are limited to undistributed net income for the current and prior two years. During 2019 
VCNB could, without prior approval, declare dividends of approximately $9,754,000 to the Corporation plus any 2019 net profits retained to the date of the dividend declaration.

Actual
For Capital

Adequacy Purposes

To Be Well Capitalized Under 
Prompt Corrective Action

Action Regulations
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

2018

Total capital                                                                   
(to risk weighted assets)

                    VCNB $109.3 16.8% $52.2 8.0% $65.2 10.0%

Common equity tier I capital                                    
(to risk weighted assets)

                    VCNB $103.4 15.8% $29.4 4.5% $42.4 6.5%

Tier 1 capital                                                                                                            
(to risk weighted assets)

                    VCNB $103.4 15.8% $39.1 6.0% $52.2 8.0%

Tier 1 capital                                                             
(to average assets)  

                    VCNB $103.4 11.2% $37.0 4.0% $46.2 5.0%

Actual
For Capital

Adequacy Purposes

To Be Well Capitalized Under 
Prompt Corrective Action

Action Regulations
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

2017

Total capital                                                                   
(to risk weighted assets)

                    VCNB $104.8 17.4% $48.1 8.0% $60.1 10.0%

Common equity tier I capital                                    
(to risk weighted assets)

                    VCNB $99.1 16.5% $27.1 4.5% $39.1 6.5%

Tier 1 capital                                                                                                            
(to risk weighted assets)

                    VCNB $99.1 16.5% $36.1 6.0% $48.1 8.0%

Tier 1 capital                                                             
(to average assets)  

                    VCNB $99.1 11.0% $35.8 4.0% $44.8 5.0%
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Crowe LLP
Independent Member Crowe Global

Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Directors
Community Bancshares, Inc.
McArthur, Ohio

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Community Bancshares, Inc., 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Community Bancshares, Inc. as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Crowe LLP
Cleveland, Ohio 
February 27, 2019
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Brandon Cottrill
Monica DeLong

Andrea Elliott
Matt Griggs
Keith Hood

Loralee Johnson
Donna Kopis

Trisha Kyer
Chad Meadows

Matt Poston
Bryan Radabaugh

Jeff Thacker
Allen Tucker

Greg Westenhouser
Brent Wilson

Vice Presidents

Regional Managers
Regional Retail Manager   Andrew Brown, VP  
Regional Retail Manager   Jodi Motta, SVP  
Regional Retail Manager   Cassie Stout, VP  
Credit Manager     Ben Junk, SVP
Credit Manager     Cheryle Lange, SVP
Business Development Manager  Chris Coryea, SVP
Business Development Manager  Joe Risch, SVP
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CBI Board of Directors
James M. Caldwell
Mr. Caldwell joined the Board in 1993 and currently 
serves on the Audit Committee. He is the president 
of Caldwell, Ott and Company, CPA in Chillicothe 
and is a former Ross County Commissioner. He 
resides in Chillicothe with his wife Pam. They have 
two children and four grandchildren. 

Christyne W. Calvin
Ms. Calvin joined the board in 1985 and serves on the 
Loan, Audit and Corporate Governance committees. 
The Vinton County native retired from VCNB after 
a 34 year career. She now lives in Hillsborough, NC 
where she volunteers with VITA, providing income 
tax assistance during tax season. She has three 
daughters and four grandchildren.

Ronald B. Collins
Mr. Collins joined the board in 2001. He serves on 
the Loan and Corporate Governance committees. 
He served as VCNB President from 2009 through 
2018 and remains with the Bank as CEO. He and 
wife Gail live in Carroll. They have two children and 
three grandchildren. 

J. Benjamin Crow
Mr. Crow joined the Board in 2009 and currently 
serves on the Corporate Governance and Loan 
committees. He is the Secretary-Treasurer for 
Community Bancshares, Inc. He resides near 
McArthur with his wife Dawn. They have one 
son. 

Steve Eversole
Mr. Eversole joined the Board in 2016 and 
currently serves on the Loan Committee. He is 
the President of Eversole Builders of Lancaster, a 
partner in Stow-Away Self Store and a partner in 
Fairfield Real Estate. He and his wife Denise have 
three children - Alex, Clint and Kara. 

William M. Garrett
Mr. Garrett joined the Board in 1988 and serves on 
the Loan and Governance committees. He owned 
and operated Garrett Funeral Home for many 
years and is now retired from his career as funeral 
director. He and his wife Ann reside in McArthur. 
They have one daughter. 

Mollie K. Grube
Mrs. Grube joined the Board in 1995 and serves on 
the Audit Committee. A lifelong resident of Fairfield 
County, she lives in the Baltimore area with her 
husband Ray. Mrs. Grube is retired from a 30 plus 
year career as an educator. Today she values her 
commitments to family and volunteerism. 

Rosemary Hajost
Mrs. Hajost joined the Board in 1983 and serves on 
the Loan Committee. After teaching in Lancaster 
City Schools for nine years she joined the family 
business, The Lancaster Book and Office Supply. 

Rosemary and her late husband Leonard have six 
children. 

Jeffrey A. Harr
Mr. Harr joined the Board in 2015. He serves 
on the Governance, Audit and Compensation 
committees. He is a Certified Public Accountant 
in public practice with BHM CPA Group. Mr. Harr 
resides in Circleville with his wife Ann. They have  
ten children and fifteen grandchildren. 

Steven G. Hunter
Mr. Hunter joined the Board in 1987. He serves on 
the Loan Committee and is Chair of the 
Governance Committee. He is a retired VCNB 
President and Chairman. Mr. Hunter and his wife 
Trudy have one son. While the pair call Chillicothe 
home, they winter in Largo and Key West, Florida.

D. Dee Mowry
Mr. Mowry joined the Board in 1994 and serves 
on the Audit, Governance and Compensation 
committees. The Bremen resident is a Professor of 
Biological Sciences at Ohio University and teaches 
classes at the Lancaster campus. He and his wife 
Kathy have two children and four grandchildren. 

Larry C. Schieber
Mr. Schieber joined the Board in 2015. He serves 
on the Governance and Compliance committees. 
He lives in Circleville where he and his wife Kim 
operate Schieber Family Pharmacy. They have 
two children and two grandchildren. 

Thomas D. Will, Chairman
Mr. Will joined the Board in 1984 when he went to 
work for the Bremen Bank. He serves on the Loan 
and Governance committees and is a fifth 
generation banker, now serving as CBI Chairman, 
CEO/President. He lives in Carroll with his wife 
Melissa and has three children. 

Directors Emeritus
                            Charles Eversole    Laura Hinton  William Rolo
     Dale Shaw Dave Stebleton

Mark Erslan
Mr. Erslan joined the Board in 2019 and serves on 
the Loan and Corporate Governance 
committees. He is a 27 year employee of the 
bank and is now VCNB President. Mr. Erslan 
resides in Chillicothe with his wife Shelby and 
their four children. 
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